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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The Crown Lands and Property Agency’s (the Agency) management is responsible for preparing the financial
statements and other financial information in the Annual Report. This responsibility includes maintaining the
integrity and objectivity of financial data and the presentation of the Agency’s financial position and reslts of
operations and its cash flows in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. In management’s
opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating
management's best judgement regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available through June, 2016

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Agency's assets. These controls also provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which financial statements are derived accurately reflect all
transactions, and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The Agency’s financial statements have been audited by The Exchange chartered accountants LLP, independent
external auditors. The auditors' responsibility is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of the Agency are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards. The Auditors' Report outlines the scope of their audit examinaticn and provides their audit
opinion.

On behalf of the Agency's management,

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Mr. Normand Le Neal, Financial Officer Ms Grace Del.ong, Chief Operating
Officer

Portage la Prairie, MB



CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

EXCHANGE

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of Crown Lands and Property Agency

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Crown Lands and Property Agency, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at March 31, 2016 and the statements of operations, change in net debt and cash flow for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Crown Lands and Property

Agency, as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Exchange

chartered professional accountants, LLP
Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 6, 2016



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2016
(In thousands)
2016 2015
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable (Note 3) $ 569 % 643
Restricted cash (Note 12) 2,110 1,419
Severance pay benefits, vacation pay and banked time cash in
trust (Note 7) 670 670
Assets held in trust (Notes 4, 8) 3 3
Surplus land sales (Note 5) - 93
$ 3,352 $ 2,828
LIABILITIES
Working capital advance (Note 9) $ 1,455 $ 4,494
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 655 505
Deferred income 30 8
Trust fund liability (Note 8) 3 3
Severance pay liability (Note 11) 330 352
Client held funds (Note 12) 2,110 1,419
Deferred leases (Note 13) 95 82
Surplus land sales (Note 5) 2,297 -
6,975 6,863
NET DEBT $ (3,623) $ (4,035)
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Prepaid expenses (Note 3) $ 43 3 97
Tangible capital assets (Notes 3, 6) 93 142
136 239
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT $ (3,487) % (3,796)

LEASE COMMITMENTS (Note 14)

ON BEHALF OF CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY

Original Document Signed

Original Document Signed

See notes to financial statements

Director

Director




CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Operations

Year Ended March 31, 2016

Budget
2016 2016 2015
REVENUE (Note 16) $ 6,683 $ 4,332 $ 3,974
EXPENSES
Advertising 18 17 17
Amortization 331 64 74
Bad debt recovery - - (70)
Computer maintenance costs 361 112 135
Contributed services 76 31 13
Desktop operating lease 218 178 188
Employee training 59 18 25
Insurance 4 4 4
Interest on working capital advance 85 67 67
Meals and accommodations 7 2 3
Office 29 18 32
Postage 50 59 57
Printing 38 19 30
Professional fees 270 201 257
Publications 21 13 11
Relocation expense 4 4 1
Rental 302 274 258
Repairs and maintenance 11 28 13
Salaries and benefits 3,949 2,847 2,832
Telephone 41 41 43
Travel 76 26 52
5,950 4,023 4,042
ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 733 309 (68)
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT - BEGINNING OF YEAR (4,005) (3,796) (3,728)
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT - END OF YEAR $ (3,272) $ (3,487) $ (3,796)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Change in Net Debt
Year Ended March 31, 2016

Budget
2016 2016 2015
ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) $ 733 $ 309 $ (68)
Purchase of tangible capital assets (3,744) 15) (19)
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 64 73
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses (195) 54 (23)
DECREASE (INCREASE) IN NET DEBT (3,206) 412 (37
NET DEBT - BEGINNING OF YEAR (5,256) (4,035) (3,998)
NET DEBT - END OF YEAR $ (8,462) $ (3,623) $ (4,035)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Cash Flow
Year Ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)
2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash receipts from customers $ 4,426 4,062

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (3,685) (4,283)

Interest paid (67) 67)

Increase (decrease) in deferred leases 13 2)

Decrease in severance pay liability (22) (13)

Change in surplus land sales 2,390 (373)

Cash flow from (used by) operating activities 3,055 (676)

INVESTING ACTIVITY

Purchase of tangible capital assets (16) (19)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 3,039 (695)
WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE - BEGINNING OF YEAR (4,494) (3,799)
WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE - END OF YEAR $ (1,455) (4,494)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY

(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)
Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

Effective April 1, 2006, Crown Lands and Property Agency (the "Agency") was designated as a Special
Operating Agency by regulation under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act made by the
Lieutenant Governor in Council.

The Agency has transactional authority for all Crown land sales, leases and permits, as well as land appraisal,
acquisition, expropriation and other services for the provincial government. The Agency represents the
Manitoba government in its land dealings with the public, striving to ensure that the government's real estate
business is conducted in a manner that is fair, open and transparent, timely and professional, and fiscally and
environmentally responsible.

The Agency consolidates the services previously provided by the Lands Acquisition Branch, Lands Branch,
Agricultural Crown Land Management and Parks Districts Records departments.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The Financing
Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It
finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances. The financial framework enables
the Agency to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Transportation and
Government Services assigns responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency related assets
and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Agency forms part of the Supply and Services Division of Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation
under the general direction of the Chief Operating Officer and the Assistant Deputy Minister of the Supply and
Services Division, and ultimately the policy direction of the Associate Deputy Minister and Minister.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations.

The Agency is economically dependent upon the Province of Manitoba for continued financing and it derives a
significant portion of its revenue from the Province. The transactions with the Province of Manitoba are
recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount agreed upon by both parties.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements of the Agency have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards as recommended by the public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB).

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

(continues)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Land Acquisition Branch: the percentage of completion method of accounting is used, whereby revenue is
recognized proportionately with the degree of contracted work completed.

Other branch areas: appropriation funding in Manitoba Agriculture, Food and Rural Development (MAFRD)
and Manitoba Conservation is continuing in order to pay the Agency the costs it incurs for providing services to
the public (on behalf of MAFRD and Manitoba Conservation).

Financial Assets

1. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks. Bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings are considered to be financing activities.

2. Accounts receivable

Receivables are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Amounts doubtful of collection are
recorded when there is uncertainty that the amounts will be realized.

Liabilities
Liabilities present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the fiscal year.
The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of settlement.

Liabilities are recorded in the financial statements when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and a
reasonable estimate can be made of the amounts involved.

(continues)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency. These assets are
normally employed to provide future services.

1. Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future periods.
The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year that the goods or services are consumed.

2. Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other acquisition
costs such as freight charges, transportation, insurance costs and duties. Modifications or additions to the
original asset are capitalized and recognized at cost.

The values of tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that the values of the future
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their book values.

The costs of tangible capital assets, less their estimated residual values, are amortized over their useful
lives in the following manner:

Equipment 5 years straight-line method
Computer equipment 5 years straight-line method
Computer software 5 years straight-line method
Furniture and fixtures 5 years straight-line method

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016

4.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost or amortized cost. Financial assets include cash and accounts
receivable. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost. Financial liabilities include working capital
advances, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative
remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the
gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended March 31, 2016 (2015 -
$nil).

Financial risk management - overview
The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk;
market risk; interest risk.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk
consist principally of cash and term deposits and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31, 2016 is:

2016 2015

Accounts receivable $ 569 $ 643

Cash: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are primarily held by the
Province of Manitoba.

Receivables: The Agency is not exposed to significant concentration of credit risk, since the receivables are
from a large client base. An allowance for doubtful accounts of $NIL was recorded as of March 31, 2016
(2015 - $NIL).

(continues)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by balancing its cash flow requirements with draw downs from its
available working capital advances and its other borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. Regular
determinations of the Agency's working capital advances limit and its other debt requirements are reviewed
by the Province of Manitoba to ensure that adequate funding is available as required to enable the Agency
to meet its obligations as they come due.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect the Agency’s income from operations or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash, cash equivalents,
portfolio investments, working capital advances, and to other borrowings.

The interest rate risk on cash and working capital advances is considered to be low
because of their short term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the
original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long term borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate
terms on each amount borrowed.

5. SURPLUS LAND SALES

Surplus land sales consist of properties which are not under the Crown Lands Act but are under the
departmental jurisdiction. These properties are being sold on behalf of clients with the net proceeds issued to
the consolidated fund or charged back to the client if the sale is not finalized.

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016

(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Cost

Equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures

Accumulated amortization

Equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures

Cost

Equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures

Accumulated amortization

Equipment

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

2016
Opening Closing
balance Additions Disposals balance

109 $ - 109
141 9 - 150

98 - 98
170 6 - 176
518 15 $ - 533

73 17 $ - 90
100 17 - 117

64 10 - 74
139 20 - 159
376 64 - 440
142 49) $ - 93

2015

138 $ 29) 109
274 16 (149) 141
176 3 81 98
170 - 170
758 19 $ (259) 518

85 17 $ 29) 73
233 16 (149) 100
133 12 81 64
111 28 - 139
562 73 (259) 376
196 54) $ - 142

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016

7. SEVERANCE PAY BENEFITS, VACATION PAY AND BANKED TIME CASH IN TRUST

The Province has accepted responsibility for the severance benefits, vacation and overtime accumulated by the
employees of Lands Branch, Agricultural Crown Land Management and Parks Districts Records departments,
transferred to the Agency March 31, 2006, up to March 31, 2006. Additionally, the Province has accepted
responsibility for the severance benefits, vacation and overtime accumulated by the employees of Land
Acquisition Branch up to March 31, 1998.

Effective March 31, 2010 the Province of Manitoba has paid the receivable balances related to the funding for
these liabilities and has placed the amount of $670 into an interest bearing trust account to be held on the
Agency’s behalf until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities.

8. ASSETS HELD IN TRUST

The assets held in trust were pledged to the Agency to complete outstanding projects transferred from the
Province of Manitoba. The trust fund liability offsets the assets held in trust until work performed on
outstanding projects have been completed.

9.  WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE

The Agency has an authorized line of working capital from the Province of Manitoba of $8,000 of which
$1,455 was used as at March 31, 2016 (2015 - $4,494). The advance is unsecured, and interest is charged at
Prime less 1% on the daily balance.

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2016 2015
Trade accounts payable $ 129 $ 164
Accrued wages, vacation pay and banked time 466 284
Sick pay leave obligation 57 57
Goods and services tax 3 -
$ 655 $ 505

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016

11. SEVERANCE PAY LIABILITY
The Agency records accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees. Severance pay is determined by
multiplying years of service by the weekly salary, at date of retirement provided that the employee reaches nine
years of service and retires from the Agency. Severance pay for service greater than 15 years to a maximum of
35 years is increased by two weeks for every five years of service. The estimate is based upon the method of
calculation set by the Province of Manitoba.
The severance benefit at March 31 included the following components:
2016 2015
Balance, beginning of year $ 260 $ 289
Actuarial loss (gain) - (25)
Benefits accrued 15 17
Interest on accrued benefits 16 16
Severance paid (44) (37)
Accrued benefit liability 247 260
Add: unamortized actuarial gains 83 92
Severance benefit liability $ 330 $ 352
12. CLIENT HELD FUNDS
The Agency invoices and collects funds on behalf of other departments. All amounts received for these
departments are recorded as a liability and are held in a separate bank account.
13. DEFERRED LEASES
The Agency manages leases on behalf of clients. The Agency remits to the consolidated fund the difference of
revenue generated and the costs to manage the leases.
14. LEASE COMMITMENTS
During the year ended March 31, 2016, the Agency incurred costs of $274 for the rental of the facilities located
at 25 Tupper Street North, Portage La Prairie, Manitoba. There is no premise lease agreement in place.
Occupancy charges for each fiscal year are established annually by the Province of Manitoba.
15. PENSION BENEFITS

Employees of Crown Lands and Property Agency (the "Agency") are eligible for pension benefits in
accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil
Service Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees
of the Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

The pension liability related to the CSSA's defined benefit plan is included in the Province of Manitoba's
financial statements. Accordingly, no provision is required in the Agency's financial statements relating to the
effects of participation in the plan by the Agency and its employees.

The Agency is regularly required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions
paid by its employees.

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2016

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Agency provides services various other government departments. These departments make up
approximately 98% of the revenue for the Agency. The Agency's ability to continue as a viable operation is
dependent upon these transactions.

17. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at March 31, 2016, there were two outstanding claims for flooded properties. The claims do not clearly
articulate the Agency's involvement, outside of its role in administering compensation. It is unknown at this
time if there are any future liabilities related to these claims.

See notes to financial statements
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//JENTREPRENEURSHIP

MANITOBA

Companies Office

1010-405 Broadway, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3C 3L6
T 204-945-2500 F 204-945-1459

www.manitoba.ca/emb

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Entrepreneurship
Manitoba and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In
management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality, incorporating management's best judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all other
data available as at May 30, 2016.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Entrepreneurship Manitoba
and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are
derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Entrepreneurship Manitoba have been audited by Magnus Chartered
Accountants LLP, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor is to express an
independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Entrepreneurship Manitoba are fairly
represented, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit
opinion on the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of
Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Craig Halwachs David Rudy
Chief Operating Officer Chief Financial Officer
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CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

MAGNUS CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS LLP+ ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAXATION+ TRANSACTIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Entrepreneurship Manitoba, an agency of the
Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2016 and
the statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Entrepreneurship Manitoba as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

May 30, 2016
Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street « Winnipeg, Canada « R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400
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ENTREPRENEURSHIP MANITOBA
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,449 6,769
Trade accounts receivable 324 225
Portfolio investments 735 1,445
9,508 8,439
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 951 331
Accrued vacation entitlements 483 401
Provision for loan guarantees (Note 4) 831 783
Employee future benefits (Note 5) 496 430
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 6) 1,847 2177
4,608 4,122
Net financial assets 4,900 4,317
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) 5,260 4,703
Prepaid expenses 11 12
Inventories of supplies 39 41
5,310 4,756
Accumulated surplus $ 10,210 9,073

Designated assets (Note 8)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



ENTREPRENEURSHIP MANITOBA

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Fees and services $ 9,105 § 9,801 $ 9,430
Immigration settlement transfer 1,750 1,750 1,750
Investment income 20 43 56
10,875 11,594 11,236
Expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits 4,322 4,400 3,931
Operating expenses (Schedule 1) 3,753 3,549 3,483
Amortization of tangible capital assets 10 8 5
8,085 7,957 7,419
Net income before transfer of funds to the Province
of Manitoba 2,790 3,637 3,817
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 9) 2,500 2,500 2,500
Net income for the year 290 1,137 1,317
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 8,091 9,073 7,756
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 8,381 $§ 10210 $ 9,073

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



ENTREPRENEURSHIP MANITOBA

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Net income for the year $ 200 $ 1137 § 1,317
Tangible capital assets:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,440) (565) (504)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 10 8 5
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,430) (557) (499)
Other non-financial assets:
Change in prepaid expenses during the year - 1 1
Change in inventories of supplies during the year - 2 (7)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 3 (6)
(Decrease) increase in net financial assets (1,140) 583 812
Net financial assets, beginning of year 3,139 4,317 3,505
Net financial assets, end of year $ 1999 § 4900 $ 4,317

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



ENTREPRENEURSHIP MANITOBA
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating activities:
Net income for the year $ 1,137 $ 1,317
Adjustment for:
Amortization of tangible capital assets 8 5
1,145 1,322
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable (99) 150
Receivable from the Province of Manitoba - 213
Prepaid expenses 1 1
Inventories of supplies 2 (7)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 620 (181)
Provision for loan guarantees 48 139
Accrued vacation entitlements 82 16
Employee future benefits 66 28
Cash provided by operating activities 1,865 1,681
Capital activities:
Capital asset additions (565) (504)
Cash (applied to) capital activities (565) (504)
Financing activities:
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (330) (330)
Cash (applied to) financing activities (330) (330)
Investing activities:
Change in portfolio investments 710 610
Cash provided by investing activities 710 610
Change in cash and cash equivalents 1,680 1,457
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,769 5,312
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 8,449 $ 6,769

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



ENTREPRENEURSHIP MANITOBA
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

1.

Nature of organization

Effective April 1, 2013, Entrepreneurship Manitoba (the "Agency") commenced operations as a
Government of Manitoba Special Operating Agency (SOA) under The Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority Act (C.C.S.M. ¢S185) by Order in Council No. 78/2013. The Agency integrates
the operations of the former Companies Office and Manitoba Jobs and the Economy's Small
Business Development Branch, Competitiveness Initiatives Branch and the Business Settlement
Office of the Business Immigration and Investment Branch.

The Agency is in the department of Jobs and the Economy and is under the policy direction of the
Minister, the Deputy Minister, and the Assistant Deputy Minister of Manitoba Jobs and the Economy.
The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. The Agency is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in its operating charter
in order to meet business objectives.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Revenue

Fees and services

Fees and services revenue is recognized when the rendering of services is complete or
substantially complete and when collection is reasonably assured.

Government transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

Other revenue

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on an accrual basis.

(b) Expenses

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized on an accrual basis when the
related goods or services are received.



ENTREPRENEURSHIP MANITOBA
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are deposits or investments with original maturities of greater than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Agency. These amounts are normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment and software 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
Office equipment 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
Leasehold improvements 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
System development costs 15 years straight line



ENTREPRENEURSHIP MANITOBA
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefits in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the period the goods or
services are consumed.

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the period the
supplies are used or consumed.

(f) Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost. Financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, trade accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its
financial liabilities at cost. Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities
and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

4. Provision for loan guarantees

Effective April 1, 2013, responsibility for the Province's Manitoba Business Start Loan Guarantee
Program was transferred to the Agency. Losses on these loan guarantees are recorded in the
accounts when it is likely that a payment will be made to honour a guarantee and when the amount of
the anticipated loss can be reasonably estimated. The amount of the provision for loan losses is
determined by taking into consideration the Program's historical loss experience and current
economic conditions. Any increase or decrease in the provision is recognized in operating expenses
for the year.

Under The Loan Act, the Province guarantees loans up to $30 each made by participating financial
institutions to new owner-managed businesses operating in Manitoba. Business Start Loans are five
year term loans at prime plus 1% interest with a one year deferral on principal repayment. In the
event of a Business Start Loan default within the five year term, the lender can make a claim for the
outstanding loan balance and up to 120 days of interest. When the Agency makes a claim payment,
the lender will assign the defaulted loan to the Agency, which allows for potential recovery from the
borrower by the Agency.



ENTREPRENEURSHIP MANITOBA
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA
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4. Provision for loan guarantees (continued)

As at March 31, 2016, the following debt has been guaranteed under the Manitoba Business Start
Loan Guarantee Program (2015 - principal outstanding of $3,561):

Revolving Principal
authorized limit outstanding
Business Start Loans under The Loan Act $ 5,000 $ 3,779

As at March 31, 2016, the Agency has recorded a provision of $831 for these loan guarantees (2015
- $783). The increase in the provision of $48 (2015 - $139) represents the loan guarantee losses
recognized as an expense during the year. In addition, the Agency made total loan guarantee
payments during the year of $222 (2015 - $131) for total loan guarantee losses and payments during
the year of $270 (2015 - $270).

As at March 31, 2016, no amounts receivable relating to defaulted loans assigned to the Agency are
included in these financial statements due to the uncertainty of recovering any amounts relating to
these defaulted loans (2015 - $nil). Recoveries, if any, will be recognized in the period in which
payments are received.

5. Employee future benefits

2016 2015
Severance benefits $ 437 $ 371
Sick pay benefits 59 59
$ 496 $ 430

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2016 was $256 (2015 - $217). Under this agreement, the Agency
has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of the severance benefit obligation is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over
the expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.
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5. Employee future benefits (continued)

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 is $437
(2015 - $371), with the total actuarial losses of $168 (2015 - $168) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability as at March 31 includes the following components:

2016 2015
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 496 $ 394
Actuarial (gains) losses - 85
Current period service costs 25 25
Interest on accrued benefits 30 29
Severance benefits paid - (37)
Accrued benefit liability, end of year 551 496
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (114) (125)
Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 437 $ 371

The total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2016 2015
Current period service costs $ 25 $ 25
Interest on accrued benefits 30 29
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 11 11

Total expense related to severance benefits $ 66 $ 65
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5. Employee future benefits (continued)
Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit liability related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a
3.75% annual salary increase. The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as at March 31, 2016 based
on the valuation model is $59 (2015 - $59). The increase in the sick leave benefit liability of $nil
(2015 - $nil) represents the total sick leave benefit expense for the year.

6. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

By virtue of the Management Agreement, the Agency is responsible for the repayment of debts
assumed by the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf. SOAFA
holds the debt instruments listed below on behalf of the Agency.

Borrowings obtained through the use of available Loan Act Authority are repayable in quarterly
instalments of principal and interest as follows:

2016 2015
4.0% repayable in quarterly instalments of $33
principal plus interest, maturing in 2021 $ 665 $ 798
3.0% repayable in quarterly instalments of $49 principal plus
interest, maturing in 2022 1,182 1,379

$ 1,847  $ 2,177

Interest is measured using the effective interest method. Approximate scheduled principal payments
in each of the next five years are as follows:

2017 $ 330
2018 330
2019 330
2020 330

2021 330
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Notes to Financial Statements
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7. Tangible capital assets

2016
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Computer equipment and
software $ 119 § - 3 $ 119
Office equipment 16 6 22
Furniture and fixtures 145 - 145
Leasehold improvements 40 - 40
System development costs 4,686 559 5,245
$ 5006 § 565 § $ 5,571
Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment and
software (111) (4) (115)
Office equipment (16) (1) 17)
Furniture and fixtures (136) (3) (139)
Leasehold improvements (40) - (40)
$ (303) $ 8 % $ (311)
Net book value $ 4703 $ 557 $ $ 5,260

During the year, system development costs were capitalized in the amount of $559 (2015 - $504).
The total cost of tangible capital assets not subject to amortization as at March 31, 2016 is $5,245
(2015 - $4,686). Amortization will commence when development is complete and the system is
available for use. During the year ended March 31, 2016, the Government of Manitoba signed a
statement of work agreement for the completion of the implementation phase of the new system for a
total fixed cost of $860 pursuant to this agreement.
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7. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2015
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Computer equipment and
software $ 119 § - 3 - 3 119
Office equipment 16 - - 16
Furniture and fixtures 145 - - 145
Leasehold improvements 40 - - 40
System development costs 4,182 504 - 4,686
$ 4502 $ 504 § - % 5,006
Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment and
software (107) (4) - (111)
Office equipment (16) - - (16)
Furniture and fixtures (135) (1) - (136)
Leasehold improvements (40) - - (40)
$ (298) $ 5) % - % (303)
Net book value $ 4204 % 499 § - 9 4,703

8. Designated assets

As at March 31, 2016, the Agency has a total of $1,075 (2015 - $1,075) of its cash and cash
equivalents and portfolio investments designated for specific purposes as described below.

The Agency has allocated $218 of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash received
from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by employees of the former
Companies Office prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to
March 31, 1998 for certain employees. In addition, $213 was received from the Province of Manitoba
for vacation and severance benefits transferred to the Agency relating to the reorganization effective
April 1, 2013. These amounts are held in interest bearing trust accounts until the cash is required to
discharge the related liabilities for severance and vacation entitlements. Any unused balance is re-
invested annually.

Also relating to the reorganization effective April 1, 2013, $644 was received from the Province of
Manitoba for the total provision for loan guarantees transferred to the Agency as of this date. This
amount is also held in an interest bearing trust account until cash is required to discharge the related
liabilities for loan guarantees.
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9.

10.

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $2,500 (2015 - $2,500) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba. These amounts
are recorded as an expense in the statement of operations.

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2015 - $nil).

Financial risk management - overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk as at March 31 is:

2016 2015
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,449 § 6,769
Accounts receivable 324 225
Portfolio investments 735 1,445

$ 9,508 $ 8,439

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as the cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments are primarily held by the Minister of
Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance of the
accounts receivable is due from a large client base and payment in full is typically collected when it is
due. The Agency manages this credit risk through close monitoring of any overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at
March 31, 2016 is $nil (2015 - $nil).
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10. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The aging of accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2016 is as

follows:

Accounts

receivable Allowance Net
Current $ 314  $ - $ 314
30-60 days past the billing date 3 - 3
61-90 days past the billing date 3 - 3
Over 90 days past the billing date 4 - 4

$ 324§ - $ 324

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low due to their short-
term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate
terms for its borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments
denominated in a foreign currency.

11. Comparative information

Certain of the amounts for the year ended March 31, 2015 have been reclassified to conform to the
financial statement presentation adopted for the current year.
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Schedule of Operating Expenses Schedule 1
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016
2016 2015
Advertising and brochures $ 13 $ 20
Audit fees 9 11
Bad debts 1 2
Bank and credit card charges 73 55
Communications and telephone 84 78
Commissioner for Oath and Notary Public fees 135 140
Computer expenses 151 176
Computer programming 243 252
Conference/convention registration fees 1 2
Consulting 25 -
Desktop support costs 232 234
Disaster recovery and electronic storage 55 45
Education and training expenses 29 23
Equipment maintenance and rentals 12 3
Grants and sponsorships 66 18
Hall rentals 17 20
Hospitality 1 2
Insurance expense 14 16
Interest on borrowings 69 80
Legal services 68 47
Library materials 23 21
Loan guarantee losses and payments (Note 4) 270 270
Manitoba Business Links, net of recoveries 169 237
Miscellaneous expenses 136 51
Name search applications 195 161
New system costs - BSI allocation 823 871
Occupancy costs 285 309
Payroll processing 21 21
Postage and courier 79 78
Promotional materials 7 19
Publications 22 25
Seminar hall rental 32 27
Stationery and supplies 101 100
Subscriptions 6 7
Translation services 5 2
Travel and transportation 49 46
Truck 2 -
Website hosting fees 5 1
Workshops 21 13
$ 3,549 $ 3,483
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Food
Development Centre and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properiy
prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgments
regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available as at June 22, 2016.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Food
Development Centre and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from
which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions and that
established policies and procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Food Development Centre have been audited by Magnus
Chartered Accountants LLP, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor
is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Food
Development Centre are fairly represented, in all material respects, in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Independent Auditor’s Report outlines the
scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion on the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of Food Development Centre.

Original Document Signed

Guy Van Den Bussche
Controller / Manager of Support Services

Box 1240 < 810 Phillips Street o Portage la Prairie, Manitoba « RIN 3J9
Toll-Free 1-800-870-1044 o Ph. (204) 239-3150 o Fax (204) 239-3180
A Special Operating Agency of Manitoba Agriculture
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and Food Development Centre

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Food Development Centre, an agency of the
Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2016 and
the statements of operations, change in net (debt) financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Food Development Centre as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

June 22, 2016
Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street « Winnipeg, Canada « R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400
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FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 203 $ 515

Accounts receivable (Note 4) 1,475 1,010

Portfolio investments 41 41

1,719 1,566

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) 523 491

Deferred revenue 201 72

Accrued vacation and overtime entitlements 251 253

Employee future benefits (Note 7) 326 295

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 8) 1,506 1,753

2,807 2,864

Net (debt) financial assets (1,088) (1,298)
Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 10,408 11,676

Prepaid expenses 39 54

10,447 11,730

Accumulated surplus $ 9,359 $ 10,432

Designated assets (Note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Grants:
Province of Manitoba operating grant $ 2020 $ 2020 $ 2,003
Other grants 193 193 227
Total grants 2,213 2,213 2,230
Fee for service 942 952 881
Lease revenue 340 329 309
Administration fees (Note 11) 672 751 565
Donations and other 10 46 15
Investment income 5 2 7
4,182 4,293 4,007
Expenses:
Salaries and benefits 2,418 2,369 2,250
Lab supplies 150 156 144
Purchased services 65 87 67
Travel and transportation a0 62 64
Marketing 47 23 25
Library 8 1 2
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,341 1,345 1,341
Write-down of tangible capital assets (Note 9) - - 351
Occupancy expenses 472 317 374
Ag Weather Progam (Note 11) - 69 -
Administrative expenses (Schedule 1) 930 937 890
5,521 5,366 5,508
Net (loss) for the year (1,339) (1,073) (1,501)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 10,716 10,432 11,933
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 9377 § 9,359 $§ 10,432

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net (Debt) Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Net (loss) for the year $ (1,339) § (1,073) $ (1,501)
Tangible capital assets:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (77) (13)
Disposals or write-downs of tangible capital
assets - - 351
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,341 1,345 1,341
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 1,341 1,268 1,679
Other non-financial assets:
Decrease in prepaid expenses - 15 7
Decrease in inventories of supplies - - 9
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 15 16
Increase in net (debt) financial assets 2 210 194
Net (debt) financial assets, beginning of year (1,528) (1,298) (1,492)
Net (debt) financial assets, end of year $ (1,526) $ (1,088) $ (1,298)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual

Cash provided by (applied to)

Operating activities:
Net (loss) for the year
Adjustments for:

$  (1,073) $  (1,501)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,345 1,341
Write-down of tangible capital assets - 351
272 191
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable (465) (83)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 32 48
Deferred revenue 129 (4)
Accrued vacation and overtime entitiements (2) (31)
Employee future benefits 31 51
Prepaid expenses 15 7
Inventories of supplies - 9
Cash provided by operating activities 12 188
Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (77) (13)
Cash (applied to) capital activities (77) (13)
Financing activities:
Repayment of borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (247) (193)
Cash (applied to) financing activities (247) (193)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (312) (18)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 515 533
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 203  $ 515

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

1.

Nature of organization

Established in 1978, as part of the Manitoba Research Council, the Food Development Centre (the
"Centre") serves the agri-food industry by providing a wide range of services including food product
development, research, testing and assistance with technology transfer to enable the industry to
efficiently and economically produce high quality foods.

Effective April 1, 1996, the Centre was designated as a Special Operating Agency by regulation
under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act made by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council.

The Centre is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Centre's operations. The Financing Authority finances the Centre through repayable loans and
working capital advances. This financial framework enables the Centre to operate in a business-like
manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Rural Development,
being the Minister responsible for the Centre at that time, assigned responsibility to the Centre to
manage and account for the Centre related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing
Authority.

The Centre is a part of the Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Development under the
general direction of a General Manager/Chief Operating Officer, and ultimately the policy direction of
the Deputy Minister and Minister. The Centre remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations.

An Advisory Board with representation from the food industry, clients of the Centre, academia and
Government provides direction on policy and operating activities.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Revenue

Government transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

Fee for service

Fee for service revenue is recognized when the services provided are complete or substantially
complete and when collection is reasonably assured.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Lease revenue

Lease revenue is recognized on an accrual basis according to the terms of the underlying lease
agreement(s).

Administration fees

Administration fees are recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the underlying agreement(s).

Other revenue

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on an accrual basis.

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis when the related
goods or services are received.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term deposits and investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Centre. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the period the goods or
services are consumed.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Method Rate
Equipment - commercial and product development  Straight-line 10-15 years
Computer hardware and software Straight-line 5 years
Building improvements Straight-line 15 years

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the period the
supplies are used or consumed.

(f) Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Centre records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Centre also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2016 2015
Trade accounts receivable $ 407 $ 385
Due from the Growing Forward Program (Note 11) 1,147 648
Other receivables 1 45
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 12) (80) (68)

$ 1,475  $ 1,010
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5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2016 2015
Trade payables and accrued liabilities $ 510 $ 435
Provincial sales and goods and services taxes payable 13 14
Due to Manitoba Agriculture, Food and Rural Development - 42
$ 523 § 491

Amounts due to Manitoba Agriculture, Food and Rural Development (MAFRD) are non-interest
bearing with no specified terms of repayment.

6. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Centre with an authorized line
of working capital of $1,000 of which $508 was used at March 31, 2016 (2015 - $528).

7. Employee future benefits

2016 2015
Severance benefits $ 282 $ 243
Sick pay benefits 44 52
$ 326 $ 295

Pension benefits

Employees of the Centre are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Centre, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Centre
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2011, the
Centre was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees' current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2016 was $231 (2015 - $196). Under this agreement, the Centre
has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Centre began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over
the expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.
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7. Employee future benefits (continued)

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Centre's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 is $282
(2015 - $243), with the total net actuarial losses of $18 (2015 - $18) based on the completed actuarial

reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2016 2015
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 260 $ 223
Actuarial losses 2
Current period service costs 21
Interest on accrued severance benefits 14
Accrued benéefit liability, end of year 298 260
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (17)
Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 282  $ 243

Total severance benefits paid during the year ended March 31, 2016 were $nil (2015 - $nil). The total
expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2016 2015
Current period service costs 21
Interest on accrued severance benefits $ $ 14
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 1
Total expense related to severance benefits $ $ 36
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7. Employee future benefits (continued)

Sick pay benefits

The Centre provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00% (2015 - 5.00%) annual
return and a 1.50% (2015 - 3.00%) annual salary increase. The Centre's sick leave benefit liability at
March 31, 2016 is $44 (2015 - $52). The (decrease) increase in the sick leave benéfit liability of $(8)
(2015 - $15) represents the total sick leave benefit (recovery) expense for the year.

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

By virtue of the Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Rural
Development, the Centre is responsible for the repayment of debts assumed by the Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf. SOAFA holds the debt instruments
listed below on behalf of the Centre.

Borrowings obtained through the use of the available Loan Act Authority are repayable in annual
instalments of principal and interest as follows:

2016 2015
5.625% repayable in annual instalments of $175
principal plus interest, maturing in May 2019 $ 700 $ 875
5.8% repayable in annual instalments of $18 principal
plus interest, maturing in April 2017 35 53

Currently interest only at prime less 0.75% payable
quarterly with no scheduled principal repayments,
maturing in 2031 771 825

$ 1,506 $ 1,753

Interest is measured using the effective interest method. During the year ended March 31, 2016, the
Centre made principal payments of $54 (2015 - $nil) on the loan with no scheduled principal
repayments.

Approximate scheduled principal repayments in each of the next five years, or until maturity, are as
follows:

Year Amount

2017 $ 193
2018 193
2019 175

2020 175
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9. Tangible capital assets

2016
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ 6,858 § 7 % - $ 6,935
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 14,061 - - 14,061
$ 21015 § 77 % - § 21,092
Accumulated Amortization
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ (3,603) $ (403) $ - $ (4,006)
Computer hardware and software (96) - - (96)
Building improvements (5,640) (942) - (6,582)
$ (9,339) % (1,345) % - $§ (10,684)
Net book value $ 11,676 $ (1,268) $ - 9 10,408

As at March 31, 2016, the total cost of tangible capital assets not subject to amortization is $802
(2015 - $802).

2015
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ 719 $ 13  § (351) $ 6,858
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 14,061 - - 14,061
$ 21353 § 13 (351) $ 21,015
Accumulated Amortization
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ (3,204) $ (399) $ - $ (3,603)
Computer hardware and software (96) - - (96)
Building improvements (4,698) (942) - (5,640)
$ (7,998) % (1,341) % - % (9,339)
Net book value $ 13,355  § (1,328) $ (351) $ 11,676

During the year ended March 31, 2015, commercial and product development equipment with an
original cost of $1,153 was written down to its estimated value of $802 resulting in a write-down of
$351 recognized as an expense on the statement of operations.
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10. Designated assets

1.

The Centre has allocated $41 (2015 - $41) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash
received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by employees of the Centre
prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for
certain employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to
discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

Administration fees

The Centre has total administration fee revenue of $751 (2015 - $565) from administering the
following programs during the year:

(a)

(b)

Growing Forward Program

The Centre has been authorized by Treasury Board to administer the non-business risk
management programs under the joint Canada-Manitoba Growing Forward Framework
Agreement (the "Growing Forward Program") on behalf of the federal government and to collect
an administration fee for these services. The Centre's administration of the Growing Forward 2
Program runs from April 1, 2013 to March 31, 2018.

The administration fee under the current Growing Forward 2 Program is based on recoveries of
certain expenses included in a Memorandum of Understanding between the Centre and
Manitoba Agri-Food and Rural Development. The recoveries include specified percentages of
certain salaries and administrative costs incurred by the Centre as well as full recovery of any
direct program costs. The total administration fees received or receivable for the year ended
March 31, 2016 pursuant to the Growing Forward 2 Program are $675 (2015 - $565), with $362
(2015 - $224) being recoveries of direct salaries and program costs. Amounts due from the
Growing Forward Program are non-interest bearing with no formal terms of repayment. The total
amount due from the Growing Forward Program as at March 31, 2016 is $1,147 (2015 - $648).

Although the Growing Forward Program is administered by the Centre, control of the program
remains with the Government of Canada, Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food. Therefore,
the financial statements of the Growing Forward Program have not been consolidated into the
financial statements of the Centre. As at March 31, 2016, the total funds on deposit relating to
Growing Forward funding is $13,995 (2015 - $13,900). These funds are not included in the
financial statements of the Centre.

Ag Weather Program

Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding between Manitoba Agri-Food and Rural
Development (MAFRD), Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation (MIT) and the Centre, the
Centre is administering the incremental operating costs incurred by MIT pursuant to a partnership
agreement between MAFRD and MIT relating to an enhanced wireless network of weather
monitoring stations in Manitoba. Given the strategic relationship between MAFRD and MIT to
improve weather information to Manitoba clients, the Centre has been authorized to administer
the incremental operating costs incurred by MIT in order to ensure the administration is
consistent with the existing Growing Forward 2 initiative (above).

The administration fee under the current Ag Weather Program is based on 10% of all funds
administered on behalf of MIT. The Centre's administration of the Ag Weather Program runs from
April 28, 2015 to March 31, 2018. For the year ended March 31, 2016, total expenses incurred
by the Centre relating to the Ag Weather Program amounted to $69 (2015 - $nil) resulting in total
administration fees received or receivable of $76 (2015 - $nil).
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12. Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Centre does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Centre did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2015 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Centre has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Centre to
credit risk are cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Centre to credit risk at March 31 is:

2016 2015
Cash and cash equivalents $ 203 $ 515
Accounts receivable 1,475 1,010
Portfolio investments 41 41

$ 1,719  § 1,566

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Centre is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Centre is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a
large client base or related entities and payment in full is typically collected when due. The Centre
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of any overdue accounts.

The Centre establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2016 is $80 (2015 - $68) with
changes to the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year as follows:

2016 2015
Balance, beginning of the year $ 68 §$ 11
Provision for receivable impairment 14 60
Amounts written off during the year (2) (3)

Balance, end of the year $ 80 § 68
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12. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31,

2016 is as follows:

Receivable Allowance Net
Current $ $ 43) $ 1,277
30-60 days past the billing date (37) 84
61-90 days past the billing date - -
Over 90 days past the billing date - 114
Balance, end of the year $ $ (80) §$ 1,475
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Centre will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come

due.

The Centre manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Centre’s net income (loss) or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their
short-term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Centre is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments
denominated in a foreign currency.
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Year ended March 31, 2016
2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Accreditation and licensing fees $ 12 8 $ 8
Advisory committee fees 2 1 2
Bad debt expense 10 14 60
Bank charges 4 4 3
Computer expenses 115 127 100
Equipment rental and repairs 100 168 85
Insurance 84 74 83
Interest on borrowings 83 58 71
Memberships 4 6 4
Postage, courier and telephone 83 62 48
Professional fees 51 32 40
Property taxes 307 312 307
Repairs and maintenance 50 44 53
Research and development - - 6
Stationery and office supplies - 21 13
Training 25 6 7
$ 930 937 $ 890
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GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

Green Manitoba Eco Solutions (Green Manitoba) management is responsible for preparing the
financial statements and other financial information in the Annual Report. This responsibility
includes maintaining the integrity and objectivity of financial data and the presentation of Green
Manitoba's financial position and results of operations and its cash flows in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements
have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's
best judgement regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available through June 24,
2016.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard Green Manitoba's assets. These
controls also provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which financial
statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions, and that established policies and
procedures are followed.

Green Manitoba's financial statements have been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, independent
external auditors. The auditors' responsibility is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of Green Manitoba are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Auditors' Report outlines the scope of
their audit examination and provides their audit opinion.

On behalf of Green Manitoba's management,

Original Document Signed

Christina McDonald
Chief Operating Officer

Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 24, 2016



o Grant Thornton

An instinct for growth’

Grant Thornton LLP
94 Commerce Drive
Winnipeg, MB

Independent Auditors’ Report s

T +1 204 944 0100
F +1204 957 5442
www.GrantThornton.ca

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of
Green Manitoba Eco Solutions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Green Manitoba Eco Solutions, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016, the statement of operations,
change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Green Manitoba Eco Solutions as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations, changes in
net financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public

sector accounting standards.
Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 24,2016 Chartered Professional Accountants

Audit « Tax * Advisory
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)
Statement of Financial Position

(In Thousands)
March 31,2016
March 31, March 31,
2016 2015
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash $ 2,546 $ 2,192
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 313 505
2,859 2,697
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accruals 213 132
Accrued severance liability (Note 6) 24 13
237 145
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 2,622 2,552
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS $ 2,622 $ 2,582

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Operations
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual

REVENUE
Government funding $ - $ 340 $ -
Non- government funding 2,860 2,379 1,748
2,860 2,719 1,748

EXPENSES
Advertising and promotion 25 37 15
Computer 40 49 37
Contracted services 44 82 110
Office 71 32 26
Professional fees 10 13 17
Program supplies and services 2,700 1,793 1,177
Rent 37 - 28
Salaries and benefits 700 608 537
Training 10 2 12
Travel 25 33 21
3,662 2,649 1,980
ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) (802) 70 (232)

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF

YEAR 2,552 2,552 2,784
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR $ 1,750 $ 2,622 $§ 2,552

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ (802) $ 70 $ (232)
DECREASE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (802) 70 (232)
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,552 2,552 2,784
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, END OF YEAR $ 1,750 $ 2,622 $ 2,552

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Cash Flow
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating
Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 70 $ (232)
Change in:

Accounts receivable 192 557
Accounts payable and accruals 81 (67)
Accrued severance liability 11 (14)
Cash provided by operating activities 354 245
INCREASE IN CASH 354 245
CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,192 1,947
CASH - END OF YEAR $ 2,546 $ 2,192

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended March 31, 2016

1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

Effective April 1, 2006, Green Manitoba Eco Solutions (Green Manitoba) was designated as a Special
Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to the Special Operating Agencies Financial Authority Act (C.C.S.M.
¢.S185). Green Manitoba operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Green Manitoba promotes sustainability practices by bringing together all partners (government, business
and other stakeholder organizations) and in doing so achieves more than if each had acted alone. Green
Manitoba serves as the access point for the public to acquire information about provincial sustainability
issues. The SOA delivers programs and services related to waste reduction, climate change action,
environmental sustainability education and water conservation.

Green Manitoba is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Green Manitoba's
operations. It finances Green Manitoba through repayable loans and working capital advances. The
financial framework enables Green Manitoba to operate in a business-like manner according to public
policy expectations. A management agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of
Sustainable Development assigns responsibility to Green Manitoba to manage and account for agency-
related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

Green Manitoba is part of the Department of Sustainable Development and operates under policy direction
of the Assistant Deputy Minister, Environmental Stewardship Division. Green Manitoba remains bound by
relevant legislation and regulations, as well as by administrative policy except where specific exemptions
have been provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

Green Manitoba derives its revenue from the Province of Manitoba and external sources. The transactions
with the Province are recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount agreed upon by both parties.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Revenue

(1) Government transfers

Government transfer without eligibility criteria or stipulations is recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfer with eligibility criteria but without stipulations is recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

(continues)



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended March 31, 2016

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government transfer with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations is recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met,
except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

(i1)) Non government funding

Special program funding is taken into income to match the program expenditures. Any
remaining program funding is deferred.

(iii) Other revenue

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

b. Expenses

All expenses are recorded on an accrual basis.

c. Cash

Cash includes cash on hand and the bank balance.

d. Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end
of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets
or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of Green
Manitoba. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

f. Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. The accrued severance liability is subject to such
estimates and assumptions. Actual results could differ from these estimates.



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended March 31, 2016

4.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost.

Green Manitoba records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and accounts receivable. Green
Manitoba also records its financial liabilities at cost, which include accounts payable, and accrued severance
liability.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re-
measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative
re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations. Gains and
losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated
statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

Green Manitoba did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2015 - $0).

Financial risk management — overview

Green Manitoba has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject Green Manitoba to credit
risk consist principally of cash, and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of Green Manitoba to credit risk at March 31 is:

2016 2015
Cash $2,546 $2,192
Accounts receivable 313 505
$2,859 $2,697

Cash: Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are held by the
Minister of Finance.

(continues)
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Year ended March 31, 2016

4.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Accounts receivable: Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due
from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. Green Manitoba
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

Green Manitoba establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.

These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at March
31,2016 was $0 (2015 - $0).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Green Manitoba will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

Green Manitoba manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect Green Manitoba’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to funds on deposit.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term nature.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
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Year ended March 31, 2016

5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The accounts receivable balance is comprised of the following amounts:

2016 2015
Waste (HHW) $ - $ 16
Sustainability (various) 13 113
WRARS (Waste) 300 376
$313 $505

6. ACCRUED SEVERANCE LIABILITY

Effective April 1, 2006, Green Manitoba commenced recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of their severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected average
remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report provides
a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. Green Manitoba's actuarially determined net liability
for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 was $24 (2015 - $13). The actuarial loss of $63 (2015 - $63)
based on actuarial reports is being amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life
(EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the determination
of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return

inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2016 2015
Accrued benefit liability $66 $60
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (42) 47)
Severance benefit liability $24 $13

(continues)
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6. ACCRUED SEVERANCE LIABILITY (continued)

During the year no severance benefits were paid (2015 - $25). The total expenses related to severance
benefits at March 31 include the following components:

2016 2015
Interest on obligation $4 $5
Current period benefit cost 2 2
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 5 4
Total expense related to severance benefit $11 $11

7.  WORKING CAPITAL ASSETS

Green Manitoba has an authorized line of working capital from the Province of Manitoba of $500 of which
$0 was used at March 31, 2016 (2015 - $0).

8. PENSION BENEFIT

In accordance with the provisions of The Civil Service Superannuation Act, employees of Green Manitoba
are eligible for pension benefits under the Civil Service Superannuation Fund. The pension plan is a
defined contribution plan, which requires Green Manitoba to contribute an amount equal to the employee's
contribution to the Fund for current services. The amount expensed by Green Manitoba in the current year
is $42 (2015 - $36).

Green Manitoba has no further liability associated with the annual cost of pension benefits earned by Green
Manitoba's employees.



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
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9. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Green Manitoba currently holds contractual obligations with the following parties, with related expenditures

scheduled to occur in the following year:

Amount Obligation

Description (year authorized) Authorized Mar. 31, 2016
University of Manitoba — CR&D Asphalt Shingles Project (2013) $ 50 $ 25
Organizations (TBD) — CR&D research and demonstration projects (2012) 50 23
City of Wpg. Capital CR&D Study (2013) 50 50
MIT — Green Building Market Study (2014) 35 34
Parks Propane Bottle Collection System (2013) 25 23
Manitoba Compost — Compost Projects, trainings & incentives (2015) 55 49
Organizations (TBD) — Manitoba Compost Incentive Payment Program (2013) 200 2
Organizations (TBD) — Manitoba Compost Program Develop. Community Proj. (2013) 64 1
Manitoba Compost — CDEM Waste diversion initiative (2015) 100 25
Organizations (TBD) — Manitoba Compost Incentive Payment Program (2014) 474 22
Manitoba Compost - Legislative Compost Project (2014) 20 16
Manitoba Compost - School Organics Project (2014) 10 5
Manitoba Compost - Communities in Bloom (2013) 25 2
Manitoba Compost - National Compost Trials (CCC) Syr (2013) 75 55
Manitoba Compost - Winnipeg Harvest - Blue Box Garden & Compost System (2014) 25 10
Manitoba Compost — CCC — Agro-economic evaluation of CQA (2015) 75 60
Manitoba Compost - CCC - Compost Training/Compost Matters Conference (2014) 25 10
Organizations (TBD) Northern Remote recycling Support (2011) 50 21
The Pas Regional Waste Management Studies (2013) 25 5
Northern Provincial Trailers (2013) 20 1
MESDWG - Public Education Project (2013) 20 5
WRARS Database Development (Various 2012-13) 60 12
PIN Printer Paper (Green Gov't)(2014) 20 12
CleanFarms Phase II Recycling Project (2014) 50 15
Waste Management Events (Various 2013-15) 90 29
Take Pride Winnipeg - Province-wide Litter Clean-up and Education Program (2014-15) 125 56
Mother Earth Recycling — Mattress Recycling (2015) 250 125
Capital Region Committee — Development of Capital Region Waste Plan (2015) 100 50
Manitoba Association of Regional Recyclers — Base Grant (2015) 25 5
Lake Friendly Waste Management — Waste Management Promotion (2015) 25 5
EECOM - 2016 Conference (2015) 20 4
CBCRA - Recycling enhancement project partnership (2015) 10 2
WRAPP — Moose Lake Waste containers & MER Mattress Recycling (2013-14) 45 6
CCPA Study (Funding received in 2010-2011) 40 40
MPSC (Funding received in 2011-2012) 132 56
Climate Change Branch — Winnipeg Airport Authority Electrification Project (2015) 300 300
$2,765 $1,161
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Industrial
Technology Centre (ITC) and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly
prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgment
regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available to the audit report date.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of ITC are fairly represented in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards. The Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit
opinion.

On behalf of Management
Industrial Technology Centre (ITC)

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Trevor Cornell David Qlafson
Chief Operating Officer Manager Corporate Services

May 16, 2016



Tél./Tel: 204 956 7200 BDO Canada LLP/s.r.l./S.E.N.C.R.L.
B DO Téléc./Fax: 204 926 7201 700 - 200 Graham Avenue
Sans frais/Toll-free: 800 268 3337 Winnipeg MB R3C 4L5 Canada

B strathroy@bdo.ca
www.bdo.ca

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY CENTRE
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statement of financial position as
at March 31, 2016, and the statements of operations, change in net debt and cash flow for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY CENTRE An Agency of the Government of Manitoba as at March
31, 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

BD O ool pe0

Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 16, 2016

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO
network of independent member firms.

BDO Canada s.r.l./S.E.N.C.R.L., une société canadienne a responsabilité limitée/société en nom collectif a responsibilité limitée, est membre de BDO International Limited, société
de droit anglais, et fait partie du réseau international de sociétés membres indépendantes BDO.



Industrial Technology Centre

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2016

(In Thousands)

March 31, March 31,
2016 2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 453 608
Accounts receivable 210 227
Portfolio investments 103 103
766 938
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 399 555
Unearned revenue - -
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 325 303
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 7) - -
724 858
Net Debt 42 80
Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 41 36
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 769 874
810 910
Accumulated Surplus $ 852 990

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

(In Thousands)

2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue
Province of Manitoba $ 730 $ 730 $ 730
Fee for senice 1,948 1,986 2,013
Other 54 58 63
Total revenue 2,732 2,774 2,806
Expense
Adwvertising and promotion 56 54 59
Amortization 304 290 261
Audit and legal 12 11 10
Bad debts 2 - -
Building maintenance 61 57 72
Computer 20 20 14
Equipment 52 60 67
Fees and memberships 26 35 38
Insurance 45 34 43
Interest and senvice charges 5 5 7
Library 9 20 28
Office 48 53 49
Professional development 25 26 22
Project supplies and subcontract 100 102 135
Purchased senvices 10 5 4
Rent and property tax 274 274 269
Salaries and benefits 1,609 1,676 1,520
Travel 25 43 22
Utilities 49 47 47
Total expense 2,732 2,812 2,667
Annual surplus, before transfer of funds to the Province
of Manitoba _ (38) 139
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba 100 100 100
Annual surplus (100) (138) 39
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 951 990 951
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 851 $ 852 $ 990

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Change in Net Debt
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

(In Thousands)

2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Annual surplus $ (100) % (138) $ 39
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (250) (185) (305)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 304 290 261
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 54 105 (44)
Other non-financial assets
Increase in prepaid expense - 5) 8)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 5) 8)
Decrease in net debt (46) (38) (13)
Net debt, beginning of year 63 80 93
Net debt, end of year $ 17 $ 42 $ 80

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Cash Flow
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

(In Thousands)

2016 2015
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating
Annual surplus $ (138) 39
Amortization of tangible capital assets 290 261
152 300
Change in:
Accounts receivable 17 (89)
Accounts payable and accruals (156) 102
Unearned revenue - (122)
Employee future benefits 22 20
Prepaid expenses (5) (8)
Cash provided by operating activities 30 203
Capital

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (185) (305)
Cash applied to capital activities (185) (305)
Decrease in cash (155) (102)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 608 710
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 453 608

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

1.

Nature of Organization

The Industrial Technology Centre (ITC) was established in 1979 under "Enterprise Manitoba", a joint
Federal/Provincial cost-shared funding agreement. ITC was managed by the Manitoba Research Council
until September 1992 when responsibility for ITC was transferred to the Economic Innovation & Technology
Council (EITC). ITC was created as a technical resource for Manitoba industry and government and
continues to provide a wide range of technical services to both the private and public sectors.

Effective April 1, 1996, ITC was designated as a Special Operating Agency (SOA) under The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M., and operates under a charter approved
by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. ITC operates as part of Manitoba Jobs and the Economy under the
general direction of the Deputy Minister.

ITC is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). SOAFA has the
mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It finances ITC
through working capital advances. The financial framework allows the Agency to operate in a business-like
manner, which is facilitated by SOA status.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister Jobs and the Economy assigns responsibility
to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency-related assets and operations on behalf of SOAFA.

An Economic Development Contribution Agreement between ITC and Manitoba Jobs and the Economy
defines expected public policy benefits generated from ITC's operations.

ITC has full delegated authority for all administrative, financial and operational matters. This delegation is
subject to any limitations, restrictions, conditions and requirements imposed by legislation or by the
Minister.

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant Accounting Policies
a. Revenue

() Government Transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

(i)  Exchange Transactions

Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title and risk of
loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the rendering of services is
completed or substantially completed.

(i)  Other Revenue
All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

b. Expenses

(1) Accrual Accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

(i)  Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

C. Financial Assets

(1) Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and
are recognized at cost.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

3.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
d. Liabilities
Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of
the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other
form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency. These
assets are normally employed to provide future services.

0] Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.

(i)  Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are
amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 20% straight-line

Office and laboratory equipment 20% straight-line

Computer equipment and software 20% straight-line

Leasehold improvements 10% straight-line
f. Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

4.

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost
or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost, which include
accounts payable and accruals and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as
re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations.
Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the
consolidated statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (Nil in 2015).

Financial Risk Management - Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk

consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2016 2015
Cash and cash equivalents $ 453 $ 608
Accounts receivable 210 227
Portfolio investments 103 103
$ 766 $ 938

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk
as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance or a Chartered Bank.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a large
client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency manages this credit risk
through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit
losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and assumptions
regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are
considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at March 31,
2016 was $20.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)
Liguidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the Province
of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to funds on deposit,
portfolio investments and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term nature. The
interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are reinvested at rates
for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long-term debt through the exclusive use of fixed rate terms
for its long-term debt.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.

5.  Working Capital Advances
The Agency has an authorized line of working capital advance up to a maximum of $300. As at March 31,

2016 working capital advances were $Nil ($Nil in 2015). The line bears interest at prime less 1% and is not
secured by specific assets.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

6. Employee Future Benefits

2016 2015
Severance benefits $ 296 $ 275
Sick pay benefits 29 28
$ 325 $ 303

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB).
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service
and to participating agencies of the Government, including ITC, through the Civil Service Superannuation
Fund.

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency is required to pay to the Province an
amount equal to the current pension contributions of its employees. The amount paid for 2016 is $98 (2015
- $89). Under this agreement, the pension liability is the responsibility of the Province, and the Agency has
no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees.
The amount of its severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial
valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when
actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions used.
The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of
the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report provides
a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency’s actuarially determined net liability for
accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 is $296 ($275 in 2015), with an actuarial adjustment being
amortized over the 15-year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the determination
of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation, were:

Annual rate of return - inflation component 2.00%
- real rate of return 4.00%

6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates - annual productivity increase 1.00%
- annual general salary increase 2.75%

3.75%




Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

6. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

Accrued benefit liability
Balance, beginning of year
Actuarial gain
Benefits accrued
Interest on accrued benefits
Severance paid
Balance, end of year

Add: Unamortized actuarial gains

Severance benefit liability

2016 2015
$ 259 $ 249
- (13)

9 9

16 14
284 259
12 16

$ 296 $ 275

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following components:

Interest on obligation
Current period benefit cost
Amortization of actuarial gains over EARSL

Total expense related to severance benefit

Sick pay benefits

2016 2015
$ 16 $14
9 9
(4) (3)
$21 $ 20

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is determined using a valuation
model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave usage and
actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary

increase.

7. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

The Minister of Finance has authorized a loan authority of $1,160 (Order in Council #00248 in 2010) for
the Industrial Technology Centre. ITC has drawn down $250, which has been repaid, of the $1,160 total

loan authority, leaving $910 of loan authority availability unutilized as of March 31, 2016.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2016
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Furniture and fixtures $ 33 $ - $ - $ 33
Office and laboratory
equipment 2,501 173 - 2,674
Computer equipment and
software 424 12 - 436
Leasehold improvements 280 - - 280
3,238 185 - 3,423
Accumulated Amortization
Furniture and fixtures 26 3 - 29
Office and laboratory
equipment 1,791 237 - 2,028
Computer equipment and
software 354 28 - 382
Leasehold improvements 193 22 - 215
2,364 290 - 2,654
Net $ 874 $ (105) $ - $ 769
2015
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Furniture and fixtures $ 33 $ - $ - $ 33
Office and laboratory
equipment 2,236 267 2 2,501
Computer equipment and
software 422 2 - 424
Leasehold improvements 244 36 - 280
2,935 305 2 3,238
Accumulated Amortization
Furniture and fixtures 23 3 - 26
Office and laboratory
equipment 1,588 205 2 1,791
Computer equipment and
software 327 27 - 354
Leasehold improvements 167 26 - 193
2,105 261 2 2,364

Net $ 830 $ 44 $ - $ 874




Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

9.

10.

Designated Assets

The Agency has allocated $103 ($103 in 2015) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
severance pay benefits. The Agency has received $103 of cash from the Province of Manitoba for the
severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held
in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused
balance is reinvested annually.

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement for the rental of a building at Smartpark, with space of
19,032 square feet.

Estimated minimum lease payments for each of the next five years are as follows:

2017 $194
2018 194
2019 194
2020 194

2021 194
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Manitoba
Education, Research and Learning Information Networks ("MERLIN") and have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the
financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality,
incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data
available to the date of the audit report

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of MERLIN are fairly represented in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit
examination and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management

MERLIN

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Kiley Bender, Acting Chief Operating Officer David Olafson, Controller
May 16, 2016

Date
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Toll-Free: 800 268 3337 Winnipeg MB R3C 4L5 Canada

www.bdo.ca

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Manitoba Education Research and Learning
Information Networks, An Agency of the Government of Manitoba which comprise the statement of financial
position as at March 31, 2016, and the statements of operations, change in net debt, and cash flows for the year
ended March 31, 2016, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Manitoba
Education Research and Learning Information Networks, An Agency of the Government of Manitoba as at
March 31, 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2016 in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Epo qu

Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 16, 2016

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO
network of independent member firms.

BDO Canada s.r.l./S.E.N.C.R.L., une société canadienne a responsabilité limitée/société en nom collectif a responsibilité limitée, est membre de BDO International Limited, societé
de droit anglais, et fait partie du réseau international de sociétés membres indépendantes BDO.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
(In Thousands)

March 31 2016 2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) $ 86 $ 765
Accounts receivable 131 321
Portfolio investments 47 a7
264 1,133
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 331 593
Unearned revenue 818 795
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 142 169
1,291 1,557
Net debt (1,027) (424)
Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 742 341
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 647 414
1,389 755
Accumulated surplus $ 362 $ 331

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue
Province of Manitoba $ 346 $ 346 $ 346
Fee for goods and services 4,463 4,841 4,623
Other - 3 7
4,809 5,190 4,976

Expense
Advertising and promotion 12 21 14
Amortization 228 223 165
Audit and legal fees 11 17 10
Communication and bandwidth 196 193 205
Cost of purchases for resale 1,901 1,790 2,046
Course delivery 10 105 36
Equipment repair and maintenance 306 319 217
Manitoba Network connections 376 789 524
Occupancy 80 70 76
Office and miscellaneous 30 42 42
Professional development 13 24 8
Purchased services 236 206 223
Salaries and benefits 1,380 1,341 1,295
Travel 30 19 20
4,809 5,159 4,881
Annual surplus - 31 95
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 291 331 236
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 291 % 362 $ 331

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Debt
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Annual surplus $ - $ 31 $ 95
Tangible Capital Assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (450) (456) (285)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 228 223 165
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (222) (233) (120)
Other Non-financial Assets
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (327) (401) 5
Decrease in net debt (549) (603) (20)
Net debt, beginning of year (479) (424) (404)
Net debt, end of year $ (1,028) $ (1,027) $ (424)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial

statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2016 2015

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating Activities

Annual surplus $ 31 $ 95
Amortization of tangible capital assets 223 165
254 260

Changes in:
Accounts receivable 190 6
Accounts payable and accruals (262) 162
Unearned revenue 23 (31)
Employee future benefits (27) 23
Prepaid expenses (401) 5
Cash provided by operating activities (223) 425

Capital Activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (456) (285)
Cash applied to capital activities (456) (285)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (679) 140
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 765 625
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 86 $ 765

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

1.

Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1995, Manitoba Education, Research and Learning Information Networks
("MERLIN") was designated as a Special Operating Agency pursuant to The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a
charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. Effective April 1, 2015, MERLIN
operates as part of Finance under the general direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister.

MERLIN is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from MERLIN
operations. It finances MERLIN through repayable loans and working capital advances. This
financial framework enables MERLIN to operate in a business like manner according to public
policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister of Finance assigns
responsibility to MERLIN to manage and account for MERLIN related assets and operations
on behalf of SOAFA.

MERLIN remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

MERLIN is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba as it derives much of its
revenue and all of its financing requirements from the Province.
Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant Accounting Policies

a.

b.

Revenue

@

(ii)

(iii)

Government Transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized
as revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are
recognized as revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility
criteria have been met, except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise
to a liability.

Exchange Transactions

Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title
and risk of loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the
rendering of services is completed or substantially completed.

Other Revenue

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Expenses

@

(ii)

Accrual Accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the
transfers are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

c. Financial Assets

0] Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than
three months. These investments are recognized at cost.

d. Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to
the end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer
or use of assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated
amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the
Agency. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

0] Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments of goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the
year the goods or services are consumed.

(i)  Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price
as well as other acquisition costs. The cost of tangible capital assets, less any
residual are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer hardware 25%, straight-line
Computer software 25%, straight-line
Equipment and furniture 20%, straight-line

Leaseholds 20%, straight-line



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f. Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair
value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities
at cost, which include accounts payable.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at
cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in the year
the gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year as at March
31, 2016 and 2015.

Financial Risk Management - Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

4.

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)
Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of MERLIN to credit risk at March 31 is:

2016 2015
Cash and cash equivalents $ 86 $ 765
Accounts receivable 131 321
Portfolio investments a7 a7
Maximum exposure to credit risk $ 264 3% 1,133

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to
significant credit risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is
due from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The
Agency manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and
historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due
accounts are allowed for or written off.

The allowance for doubtful accounts was unchanged during the year and the balance at
March 31, 2016 was $17.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)
Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit, and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

5.  Working Capital Advances

MERLIN has an authorized line of working capital advances up to $2.0 million. As at March
31, 2016 working capital advances were $NIL ($NIL in 2015). The line bears interest at prime
less 1% and is not secured by specific assets.

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Agency invests all surplus cash in short-term deposits with the province of Manitoba,
which are made up of term deposits with maturities of up to three months.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

7.

Employee Future Benefits

2016 2015

Severance benefits $ 128 $ 152
Sick pay benefits 14 17
$ 142 % 169

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of
the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide
benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the
Government, including the Manitoba Education, Research & Learning Information Network,
through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency is required to pay to the
Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of their employees. The
amount paid for 2016 was $90 ($86 in 2015). Under this agreement, the pension liability is the
responsibility of the Province, and the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, MERLIN began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to
the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or
because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are
amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

7.

Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Severance Benefits (continued)

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. MERLIN’s actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 was $128 ($152 in
2015), with an actuarial adjustment being amortized over the 15 year expected average
remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit
obligation were:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Annual salary increase rates:

Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes to following components:

2016 2015

Accrued benefit liability
Balance, beginning of year $ 160 $ 160
Actuarial gain - (13)
Benefits accrued 4 4
Interest on accrued benefits 10 9
Severance paid (39) -
Balance, end of year 135 160
Less unamortized actuarial losses (7) (8)

Severance benefit liability $ 128 $ 152




MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Severance Benefits (continued)

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following

components:

2016 2015
Interest on obligation $ 10 $ 11
Current period benefit cost 4 4
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 1 2
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 15 $ 17

Sick Pay Benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is
determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on
employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions
include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2016
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost

Computer hardware $ 1,332 $ 440 $ -3 1,772
Computer software 96 14 - 110
Equipment and furniture 46 2 - 48
Leaseholds 20 - - 20
1,494 456 - 1,950

Accumulated Amortization
Computer hardware 923 218 - 1,141
Computer software 96 3 - 99
Equipment and furniture 41 2 - 43
Leaseholds 20 - - 20
1,080 223 - 1,303
Net book value $ 414 $ 233 % - $ 647
2015
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost

Computer hardware $ 1,047 $ 285 $ -3 1,332
Computer software 96 - - 96
Equipment and furniture 46 - - 46
Leaseholds 20 - - 20
1,209 285 - 1,494

Accumulated Amortization
Computer hardware 760 163 - 923
Computer software 95 1 - 96
Equipment and furniture 39 2 - 41
Leaseholds 20 - - 20
914 166 - 1,080

Net book value $ 295 % 119 % - % 414




MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

9.

10.

Designated Assets

MERLIN has allocated $47 ($47 in 2015) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by
employees of MERLIN prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an
interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any
unused balance is re-invested annually.

Commitments

MERLIN leases office space under a long-term lease which expires March 31, 2018. The
future minimum payments required under this lease are:

2017 $ 48
2018 48
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THE MANITOBA FINANCIAL
SECURITIES INSTITUTIONS

COMMISSION REGULATION BRANCH

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of

the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY and have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management’s opinion,
the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality, incorporating management’s best judgment regarding all necessary estimates
and all other data available to the audit report date.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are
derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are
followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on

whether the financial statements of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
are fairly represented in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
The Independent Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and
provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management,

Manitoba Financial Services Agency

Original Signed by Don Murray Original Signed by Marlene Nemes
Donald G. Murray Marlene Nemes, CPA, CMA

CAO, MFSA Deputy Director,

Chair and CEO, MSC Finance and Administration

May 18, 2016
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Independent Auditor's Report

To The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES
AGENCY, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the statements
of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY as at March 31, 2016, and the results of its operations

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards.

Other Matter

We have not audited, reviewed or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the
schedules or exhibits on pages 16 - 17 of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY's financial
statements.

)EDO Cq—moﬂa,_

Chartered Accountants

P

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 18, 2016

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international
BDO network of independent member firms.

BDO Canada s.r.l., une société canadienne a responsabilité limitée, est membre de BDO International Limited, société de droit anglais, et fait partie du réseau international
de sociétés membres indépendantes BDO.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)

March 31 2016 2015

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 23,058 $ 20,384
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 26 41
Portfolio investments 1,019 1,019
24,103 21,444
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 194 97
Accrued vacation entitlements 301 306
Accrued salaries and benefits 227 92
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 454 400
1,176 895
Net Financial Assets 22,927 20,549

Non-financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 98 125
Prepaid expenses 166 54
264 179
Accumulated surplus $ 23,191 $ 20,728

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue

Fees $ 16,916 $ 19,286 $ 18,537
Interest 84 117 172
Miscellaneous - 15 18
17,000 19,418 18,727

Expenses
Amortization - capital assets 25 27 18
CSA initiatives* 86 71 65
Contract services 352 246 301
Education/Information initiatives 197 73 79
Miscellaneous 28 26 21
Office materials and supplies 123 65 75
Premises 531 536 458
Professional services 143 120 143
Research resources 54 54 43
Salaries and benefits 4,355 3,756 3,661
Staff development and professional dues 100 41 28
Telecommunications 83 77 83
Travel 106 63 61
6,183 5,155 5,036
Annual operating surplus 10,817 14,263 13,691
Transfer to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 11,800 11,800 11,800
Annual surplus (deficit) (983) 2,463 1,891
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 17,927 20,728 18,837
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 16,944 $ 23,191 $ 20,728

* Canadian Securities Administrators

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Annual surplus (deficit) $ (983) $ 2,463 $ 1,891
Tangible Capital Assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - - (116)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 25 27 18
Net change in tangible capital assets 25 27 (98)
Other Non-financial Assets
Increase in prepaid expense - (112) 3)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (112) (3)
(Decrease) Increase in net financial assets (958) 2,378 1,790
Net financial assets, beginning of year 20,549 20,549 18,759
Net financial assets, end of year $ 19591 $ 22927 $ 20,549

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2016 2015

Cash provided by (applied to):

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Annual surplus $ 2,463 $ 1,891
Amortization of tangible capital assets 27 18
2,490 1,909

Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable 15 37
Prepaid expenses (112) 3)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 97 7
Accrued vacation entitlements (5) (28)
Accrued salaries and benefits 135 5
Deferred revenue - (15)
Employee future benefits 54 (51)
2,674 1,861

Cash Flows from Capital Activities

Acquisition of capital assets - (116)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,674 1,745
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 20,384 18,639
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 23,058 $ 20,384

Supplementary information:
Interest received $ 120 $ 172

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

1. Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1999 the Lieutenant Governor in Council designated the Manitoba Securities
Commission ("Commission") as a special operating agency under The Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority Act (C.C.S.M. ¢.S185) by Order in Council No. 144/1999. The
Order also gave approval to the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority and the
Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs, being the Minister responsible for the Commission,
at that time, to enter into a management agreement with respect to the Commission.

The Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Consumer
and Corporate Affairs assigns responsibility to manage the assets transferred to the Manitoba
Securities Commission in delivering regulated services to clients. The Minister of Finance is
responsible for the Agency.

Treasury Board Secretariat issued a Program Portfolio Management Review (PPMR) Minute on
September 22, 2012 which approved the transfer of the Financial Institutions Regulation Branch
(FIRB) of the Department of Finance to the Manitoba Securities Commission a Special
Operating Agency (SOA), effective October 1, 2012. Since that date, the SOA has been
operating as the Manitoba Financial Services Agency ("Agency").

This change was subsequently reflected in Regulation 29/2013, which provides an updated
listing of the special operating agencies, including the merger of Manitoba Securities
Commission and FIRB. As well, it was reflected in the background to the Order in Council
77/2013.

2. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue

Fees and cost recoveries are recognized when received. Investment income is recorded in
accordance with terms of the related investment.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Expenses
(8) All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

(b) Government transfers are recognized as expenditures in the period in which the transfers
are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial Assets

Portfolio Investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and are
recognized at cost.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the
end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of
assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately
payable.

Non-financial Assets

(&) Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year
the goods or services are consumed.

(b) Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition cost. Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortized over their useful
lives as follows:

Office equipment 20% straight-line
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight-line
Leasehold improvements 10% straight-line
Computer hardware 20% straight-line
Computer software 20% straight-line

The half-year rule is used in the year of acquisition.

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value;
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets and liabilities at cost, which include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its
financial liabilities at cost, which include working capital advances and accounts payable.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement
of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are
recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

Financial Risk Management Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, portfolio investments, and
accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2016 2015
Cash and cash equivalents $ 23,058 $ 20,384
Accounts receivable 26 41
Portfolio investments 1,019 1,019

$ 24,103 $ 21,444

Cash, cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant
credit risk as the cash and term deposits are primarily held by the Minister of Finance.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as receivables consist
of accrued interest owing from the Province of Manitoba and trade amounts owed primarily from
other entities within the Government of the Province of Manitoba and payment in full is typically
collected when it is due. The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that
represents its estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based
on management’s estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer
analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining
whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

Management has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts is required as at March
31, 2016 (Nil in 2015).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity can be defined as an organization's ability to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from
the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.
The significant market risk the Agency is exposed to is interest rate risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Agency invests all surplus cash in short-term deposits with the Province of Manitoba, which
are made up of ninety day callable term deposits.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

6.

Accounts Receivable

2016 2015

Accrued interest $ 16 $ 19
Trade 10 22
$ 26 $ 41

Employee Future Benefits

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Manitoba Financial Services Agency are eligible for pension benefits in
accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered
by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit
plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies
of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund
(CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province of Manitoba the pension liability for its employees.

Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to
its employees' current pension contributions. The amount paid for 2016 was $222 ($207 in
2015). Under this Agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 or the date of their creation, whichever is later; SOAs began recording
accumulated severance pay benefits for their employees. The amount of their severance pay
obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial valuations of these
liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when actual
experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions
used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected average
remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The special operating
agencies’ actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 is
$454 ($400 in 2015). The actuarial loss of $47 based on actuarial reports is being amortized
over the 15 year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation
were:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rate:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2016 2015

Accrued benefit liability
Balance, beginning of year $ 447 $ 483
Actuarial loss - 20
Benefits accrued 23 23
Interest on accrued benefits 27 30
Severance paid - (109)
Balance, end of year 497 447
Less unamortized actuarial losses (43) (47)
Severance benefit liability $ 454 $ 400

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following components:

2016 2015
Interest on obligation $ 27 $ 30
Current period benefit cost 23 23
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 4 4
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 54 $ 57

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is determined
using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The Agency has not recorded an accrued sick
pay benefit obligation as it has been determined to be immaterial.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2016
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost

Office equipment $ 61 $ - 8 - 8 61
Furniture and fixtures 221 - - 221
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 869 - - 869
1,368 - - 1,368

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 43 4 - 47
Furniture and fixtures 160 14 - 174
Leasehold improvements 33 7 - 40
Computer hardware 142 1 - 143
Computer software 865 1 - 866
1,243 27 - 1,270
Net book value $ 125 $ 27) $ - $ 98
2015
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost

Office equipment $ 42 % 19 $ - $ 61
Furniture and fixtures 160 61 - 221
Leasehold improvements 41 33 - 74
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 866 3 - 869
1,252 116 - 1,368

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 40 3 - 43
Furniture and fixtures 153 7 - 160
Leasehold improvements 27 6 - 33
Computer hardware 141 1 - 142
Computer software 864 1 - 865
1,225 18 - 1,243

Net book value $ 27 $ 98 $ - $ 125




MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

9.

10.

11.

Designated Assets

Designated assets are distinct from restricted assets. Unlike restricted assets, the Agency or the
Government can readily change its by-law or resolution and use the designated assets for
another purpose if the need arises. The Agency has allocated $1,019 ($1,019 in 2015) of its
portfolio investments as designated assets for the following purposes:

The Agency maintains separate deposits of $750 ($750 in 2015) to fund expenses which may
arise with respect to its reserve fund. The Reserve Fund was established to finance
extraordinary expenses for isolated and unanticipated purposes that are regulatory in nature
and for changes in market activity that have a negative effect on revenues.

The Agency has received $269 ($269 in 2015) of cash from the Province of Manitoba for the
purpose of settling certain of its vacation and severance liabilities in the future. This amount is
held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities.
The principal of this note is re-invested annually and the interest is deposited in the Agency's
trust account.

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement commencing October 1, 2005 for rental of
facilities at 400 St. Mary Avenue, which expires September 30, 2020.

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement as of December 31, 2013 which includes rental
of 207 - 400 St. Mary Avenue (FIRB occupancy) and the remainder of the 5th floor for the
Manitoba Securities Commission, which expires April 30, 2026.

Minimum annual lease payments for these agreements total $526 per year for each of the next
five years.

Transfer to the Province of Manitoba

Payments to the Consolidated Revenue Fund of the Province of Manitoba are set annually
according to Treasury Board Directives, and paid in quarterly installments. Total transfers for
the current year were $11,800 ($11,800 in 2015). The Treasury Board has approved payments
of $11,800 for the year ended March 31, 2016.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2016

12.

13.

Contingency

The Commission has been named as defendant in one complaint. At the time of preparation of
these financial statements, the outcome of this complaint was undeterminable. The cost of a
future settlement, if any, will be reflected as an expense in the year paid.

Working Capital Advances

These advances are provided to the Agency through the Special Operating Agencies Financing
Authority pursuant to the Management Agreement. The Agency has an authorized line of
working capital advance of $500 which was unutilized at March 31, 2016 ($500 in 2015).

The Agency incurred no interest charges during the year (Nil in 2015).



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Schedule of Operating Income

The Manitoba Securities Commission

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue

Fees $ 15,262 $ 17,548 $ 16,854
Interest 84 117 172
Miscellaneous - 1 1
15,346 17,666 17,027

Expenses
Amortization - capital assets 25 27 18
CSA initiatives* 86 71 65
Contract services 314 215 264
Education/Information initiatives 197 70 79
Miscellaneous 27 23 18
Office materials and supplies 112 57 61
Premises 406 442 376
Professional membership and dues 75 23 15
Professional services 127 51 126
Research resources 53 52 42
Salaries and benefits 3,558 3,060 2,962
Staff development and professional dues 19 16 11
Telecommunications 70 65 70
Travel 95 61 52
5,164 4,233 4,159
Annual operating surplus $ 10,182 $ 13,433 12,868

* Canadian Securities Administrators



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Schedule of Operating Income

Financial Institutions Regulation Branch

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue

Fees $ 1,654 $ 1,738 $ 1,683
Miscellaneous - 14 17
1,654 1,752 1,700

Expenses
Contract services 38 31 37
Miscellaneous 1 3 3
Office materials and supplies 11 12 14
Premises 125 94 82
Professional services 16 69 17
Research resources 1 1 1
Salaries and benefits 797 696 699
Staff development and professional dues 6 2 2
Telecommunications 13 12 13
Travel 11 2 9
1,019 922 877

Annual operating surplus $ 635 $ 830 $ 823
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Management Report

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Manitoba
Learning Resource Centre and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting principles. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been propetly
prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgment
regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available up to June 28, 2016.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Centre’s assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the Auditor General is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of the Centre are fairly presented in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting principles. The Auditors' Report outlines the scope of the audit examinaton and
provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management,

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Brenda McKinny Rhonda Wilhams, CPA, CGA
Chief Operating Officer Controller

Original Document Signed

Souris, Manitoba
June 28, 2016



OFFICE OF THE

AUDITOR GENERAL

MANITOBA
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the statements of operations
and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion,

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Manitoba Learning Resource Centre as at March 31, 2016, and the results of its operations, changes in net
financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Office of the Auditor General
June 28,2016
Winnipeg, Manitoba

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 office: (204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169
www.oag.mb.ca



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position

(in thousands)
March 31 2016 2015

Financial assets

Cash $ 3 $ 3
Accounts receivable 845 874
Portfolio investments 64 64
Inventories for resale 2374 2,511
3,286 3,452

Liabilities
Working capital advance (Note 5) 1,934 2,297
Accounts payable and accruals 575 365
Customer deposit accounts 174 177
Accrued severance liability (Note 6) 53 51
2,736 2,890
Net financial assets 550 562

Non-financial assets

Prepaid expenses 4 9
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) 35 27
39 36

Accumulated surplus $ 589 $ 598

Designated assets (Note 8)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

(in thousands)

Year Ended March 31 2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Sales $ 7,718 $ 7,215 $ 7,097
Cost of goods sold
Inventory, beginning of year 2,779 2,511 2,439
Purchases 6,649 6,035 6,170
Transportation in 47 35 39
Transportation out 96 91 99
9,571 8,672 8,747
Inventory, end of year 2,804 2,374 2,511
Cost of goods sold 6,767 6,298 6,236
Gross profit 951 917 861
General and administrative expenses
Amortization 14 11 17
Bad debts - 8 6
Computer expense 83 60 65
Employee benefits 70 73 70
Interest 41 30 30
Marketing 11 2 1
Office 21 15 18
Office occupancy 50 49 50
Postage 3 2 2
Professional services 14 14 14
Salaries 355 360 348
Telephone 7 6 7
Training 4 - -
Travel 11 6 7
Warehouse occupancy 89 89 89
Warehouse service 201 201 201
974 926 925
Annual deficit (23) (9) (64)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 552 598 662
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 529 $ 589 $ 598

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)

Year Ended March 31 2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual

Annual deficit $ 23) % 9 $ (64)
Tangible capital assets

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (41) (29) (16)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 14 11 17
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (27) (8) 1
Other non-financial assets

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expense - 5 (1)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 5 (1)
Decrease in net financial assets (50) (12) (64)
Net financial assets, beginning of year 552 562 626
Net financial assets, end of year $ 502 $ 550 $ 562

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
Year Ended March 31 2016 2015

Increase (decrease) in cash

Operating
Annual deficit $ 9) $ (64)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 11 17
2 (47)
Changes in
Accounts receivable 29 (318)
Inventories for resale 137 (72)
Accounts payable and accruals 210 (62)
Customer deposit accounts 3) (49)
Accrued severance liability 2 3
Prepaid expenses 5 1)
382 (546)
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (19) (16)
Financing
(Repayment) receipt of working capital advance (363) 562
Increase in cash - -
Cash, beginning of year 3 3
Cash, end of year $ 3 $ 3
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest received $ 5 $ 4
Interest paid $ 28 $ 30

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2016

1. Nature of operations

In 1931, the Manitoba Text Book Bureau (MTBB) was created as a branch of the Department
of Education and Training. It was established to achieve economies of scale and reduce the
cost of learning resources for schools in Manitoba. In December 2015, under The Statutes
Correction and Minor Amendments Act (Education Act), the name of the entity was officially
changed to the Manitoba Learning Resource Centre (LRC).

Effective April 1, 1996, the LRC was designated as a Special Operating Agency under The
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Chapter S 185, C.C.S.M. and operates
under a charter approved by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council.

The LRC is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency
operations. It finances the LRC through working capital advances. This financial framework
enables the LRC to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the SOAFA and the Minister of Education, being the
Minister responsible for the Agency at that time, assigns responsibility to the LRC to manage
and account for the LRC's related assets and operations on behalf of SOAFA.

The LRC continues to be part of the Department of Education and Training under the general
direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister, School Programs Division, and ultimately the policy
direction of the Deputy Minister and Minister.

The LRC remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

2. Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies

Revenue

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of title to the customer.

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.
Financial assets

Cash
Cash includes cash on hand and bank balance.

Portfolio investments
Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three months.
These investments are recognized at cost.

Inventories for resale
Inventories for resale are valued using the average unit cost method and are measured using
lower of cost and net realizable value.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the
end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of
assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately
payable.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the LRC.
These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.




Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets are amortized over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Office equipment, furniture and video recording equipment - 20% declining balance
Computer equipment - 20% straight line
Computer software - 20% straight line

One-half year’s amortization is applied in the year of acquisition.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of

contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The LRC records its financial assets at cost, which include cash, portfolio investments,
accounts receivable and inventories for resale. The LRC also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include working capital advance, accounts payable and accruals and customer
deposit accounts.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement
of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost
are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

The LRC did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2015 - $nil).
Financial risk management - overview

The LRC has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk,
liquidity risk, market risk, interest risk and foreign currency risk.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2016

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the LRC

to credit risk consist principally of cash, portfolio investments and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the LRC to credit risk at March 31 is:

2016 2015

Cash $ 3 $ 3
Accounts receivable 845 874
Portfolio investments 64 64
$ 912 $ 941

Cash and portfolio investments: The LRC is not exposed to significant credit risk as these
amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The LRC is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due
from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The LRC
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The LRC establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and
historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due
accounts are allowed for or written off.

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year was as follows:
Balance, beginning of the year $ 74
Provision for receivable impairment 8

Amounts written off - -

Balance, end of the year $ 82
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An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended March 31, 2016

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the LRC will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The LRC manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the LRC’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits
are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The LRC is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.
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5. Working capital advance

The LRC has an authorized line of working capital advances of $3,500, of which $1,934 was
used as of March 31, 2016 (2015 - $2,297).

6. Accrued severance liability

Effective April 1, 1998, the LRC began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its

employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to
the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or

because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are

amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The LRC's actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 was $53 (2015 - $51),

with the actuarial gain of $30 (2015 - $30) being amortized over the 15 year expected average
remaining service life of the employee group. Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used
in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the determination of the March 31, 2016 present value

of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return

Inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2016 2015
Accrued benefit liability $ 39 $ 35
Unamortized actuarial gains 14 16

Severance benefit liability $ 53 $

51
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6. Accrued severance liability (continued)

Total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following components:

2016 2015
Interest on obligation $ 2 $ 2
Employer service cost 3 3
Severance payout - -
Amortization of actuarial gains over EARSL (2) (2)
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 3 $ 3
7. Tangible capital assets
2016 2015
Opening Closing Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance Balance
Cost
Computer equipment $ 208 % - $ 53 $ 155 $ 208
Computer software 109 19 - 128 109
Office equipment
and furniture 48 - - 48 48
Video recording
equipment 51 - - 51 51
Total cost 416 19 53 382 416
Accumulated Amortization
Computer equipment 208 - 53 155 208
Computer software 90 10 - 100 90
Office equipment
and furniture 42 1 - 43 42
Video recording
equipment 49 - - 49 49
Total accumulated
amortization 389 11 53 347 389
Net $ 27 % 8 $ - 3 35 % 27
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended March 31, 2016

8. Designated assets

The LRC has allocated $64 (2015 - $64) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba as settlement for the vacation entitlements earned
by employees of the LRC prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of the LRC’s employees. This amount is held in an
interest bearing account. Any unused balance is re-invested annually. Funds are to be used for
payments to employees for their outstanding vacation and severance pay amounts.

9. Related party transactions

The LRC is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created
Departments, Agencies and Crown Corporations. The LRC enters into transactions with these
entities in the normal course of business and the transactions are measured at the exchange
amount.

10. Pension benefits

Employees of the LRC are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation
Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the
Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the LRC,
through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund. At December 31, 2014, the Fund had a deficit
of $3.8 billion.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the LRC
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001,
the LRC is required to pay annually to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current
pension contributions. The amount paid for 2016 was $24 (2015 - $23). Under this agreement,
the LRC has no further pension liability.

11. Budgeted figures

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from
the estimates approved by the management of the LRC.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY

(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Materials
Distribution Agency and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within
reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgments regarding all necessary
estimates and all other data available as at May 19, 2016.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Materials Distribution
Agency and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial
statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and
procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency have been audited by Magnus Chartered
Accountants LLP, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor is to express an
independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency are fairly
represented, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and
provides the audit opinion on the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of
Materials Distribution Agency

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed

David Bishop Joel Hershfield, CPA, CMA
Chief Operating Officer Manager of Finance and Technology
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CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

MAGNUS CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS LLP+ ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAXATION+ TRANSACTIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and Materials Distribution Agency

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency, an agency of
the Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2016
and the statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Materials Distribution Agency as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

May 19, 2016
Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street « Winnipeg, Canada « R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400


Brett
Magnus


MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 504 1,045
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 2,768 1,937
Portfolio investments 512 512
Inventories held for resale (Note 6) 1,651 1,505
5,435 4,999
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,910 2,613
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 765 736
3,675 3,349
Net financial assets 1,760 1,650
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 2,416 2,313
Prepaid expenses 126 242
2,542 2,555
Accumulated surplus $ 4,302 4,205

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Warehouse sales (Schedule 1) $ 14730 $ 16,070 $ 14,330
Service revenue (Schedule 1) 12,273 12,698 12,006
Investment income - 3 5
27,003 28,771 26,341
Expenses:
Cost of sales 11,452 12,749 11,365
Salaries and benefits 5,518 5,313 5,084
Occupancy costs 1,078 1,204 980
Operating expenses (Schedule 2) 8,218 8,504 8,020
Administrative expenses (Schedule 2) 624 704 651
26,890 28,474 26,100
Net income before transfer of funds to the Province
of Manitoba 113 297 241
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 200 200 200
Net income for the year (87) 97 41
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 4,173 4,205 4,164
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 4086 $ 4302 $ 4,205

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Net income for the year $ 87) § 97 41
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (8) (1,388) (1,664)
Disposals of tangible capital assets - 65 74
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 1,220 1,062
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (8) (103) (528)
Other non-financial assets
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 5 116 (34)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets 5 116 (34)
Change in net financial assets (90) 110 (521)
Net financial assets, beginning of year 1,948 1,650 2,171
Net financial assets, end of year $ 1858 $ 1,760 $ 1,650

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating activities:
Net income for the year $ 97 $ 41
Adjustments for:
Amortization 1,220 1,062
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets (Note 8) (10) (11)
1,307 1,092
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable (831) 375
Inventories held for resale (146) (215)
Prepaid expenses 116 (34)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 297 288
Employee future benefits 29 23
Cash provided by operating activities 772 1,529
Investing activities:
Change in portfolio investments - (100)
Cash (applied to) investing activities - 100
Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,388) (1,664)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 75 85
Cash (applied to) capital activities (1,313) (1,579)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (541) (150)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,045 1,195
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 504 $ 1,045

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

1. Nature of organization

The Government of Manitoba established a central warehouse operation in 1974. Its mandate is to
effectively meet the cost needs of departments and certain boards, commissions and agencies of the
Crown, for a variety of commonly used items.

Effective April 1, 1993, Materials Distribution Agency (the "Agency") was designated as a Special
Operating Agency pursuant to The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185,
C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

In 1956, Mail Management (Postal Service) was created as a branch of the Manitoba Provincial
Government to provide centralized postal services. Effective April 1, 1996 the Postage Service was
renamed Mail Management Agency and designated as a Special Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to
The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a
charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. Effective April 1, 2005 the operations of the
Materials Distribution Agency and the Mail Management Agency were amalgamated. The
amalgamated operations have been operating as the Materials Distribution Agency.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Agency's operations and finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances.
This financial framework enables the Agency to operate in a business like manner according to public
policy expectations. A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of
Infrastructure and Transportation assigns responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for
Agency-related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Agency continues to be part of Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation under the general
direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister, Supply and Services Division, and ultimately the policy
direction of the Deputy Minister and Minister. The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and
regulations. The Agency is also bound by administrative policy except where specific exemptions
have been provided in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

Effective April 1, 2012 the Agency is administering the vaccine program on behalf of Manitoba Health.

2. Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Revenue

Warehouse sales

Revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped and when collection is reasonably assured.

Service revenue

Service revenue is recognized when the related services are completed or substantially
completed pursuant to the underlying contracts, where applicable, and when collection is
reasonably assured.

Other revenue

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on the accrual basis.

Expenses

Accrual basis of accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized on an accrual basis.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Inventories for resale

Inventories for resale are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment 20% straight line
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight line
Leasehold improvements 10 years straight line
Office equipment 20% straight line
Production equipment 20% declining balance
Rental equipment 2 - 5 years straight line
Warehouse equipment 20% declining balance

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future
periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or services are
consumed.

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost. Financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial
liabilities at cost. Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

4. Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:
2016 2015

Trade accounts receivable $ 2,833 $ 2,002
Allowance for doubtful accounts (65) (65)

$ 2,768 $ 1,937

5. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Agency with an authorized line
of working capital of $1,000 of which $nil was used at March 31, 2016 (2015 - $nil).

6. Inventories held for resale

2016 2015
Medical supplies $ 775 % 642
Health equipment 168 148
Stationary 451 508
Janitorial 253 203
Furniture 4 4

$ 1,651 $ 1,505

7. Employee future benefits

2016 2015
Severance benefits $ 695 $ 666
Sick pay benefits 70 70
$ 765 $ 736

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2016 was $318 (2015 - $306). Under this agreement, the Agency
has no further pension liability.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

7. Employee future benefits (continued)
Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of the severance pay benefit obligation is based on actuarial calculations.
The periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from expected and/or because of changes
in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the
expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 is $695
(2015 - $666), with the total net actuarial losses of $38 (2015 - $38) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2016 2015
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 685 $ 649
Actuarial losses - 15
Interest on accrued severance benefits 41 40
Current period service costs 30 30
Severance benefits paid during the year (45) (49)
Accrued benéefit liability, end of year 711 685
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (16) (19)

Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 695 § 666




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

7. Employee future benefits (continued)

The total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2016 2015
Interest on accrued severance benefits $ 41 $ 40
Current period service costs 30 30
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 3 3
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 74 $ 73

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit liability related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00% annual return and a
3.00% annual salary increase. The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as at March 31, 2016 based
on the valuation model is $70 (2015 - $70). The increase (decrease) in the sick leave benéfit liability
of $nil (2015 - $nil) represents the total sick leave benefit expense (recovery) for the year.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

8. Tangible capital assets

2016

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Computer equipment $ 279 $ - $ - $ 279
Furniture and fixtures 165 - - 165
Leasehold improvements 1,142 5 - 1,147
Office equipment 64 - - 64
Production equipment 542 - - 542
Rental equipment 12,411 1,362 (2,127) 11,646
Warehouse equipment 1,302 21 1,323

$ 15905 § 1,388 § (2127) $ 15,166

Accumulated amortization

Computer equipment $ (245) % 8 $ - 3 (253)
Furniture and fixtures (162) (1) - (163)
Leasehold improvements (863) (37) - (900)
Office equipment (64) - - (64)
Production equipment (320) (43) - (363)
Rental equipment (11,033) (1,051) 2,062 (10,022)
Warehouse equipment (905) (80) - (985)

$ (13,592) % (1,220) % 2,062  $§ (12,750)
Net book value $ 2,313  $ 168 $ (65) $ 2,416

During the year ended March 31, 2016, rental equipment with a net book value of $65 was sold for
proceeds of $75 resulting in a gain on disposal of tangible capital assets of $10 included in total
health equipment sales during the year.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

8. Tangible capital assets (continued)
2015
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Computer equipment $ 275  $ 4 3 - $ 279
Furniture and fixtures 165 - - 165
Leasehold improvements 882 260 - 1,142
Office equipment 64 - - 64
Production equipment 323 219 - 542
Rental equipment 11,487 998 (74) 12,411
Warehouse equipment 1,119 183 - 1,302
$ 14315 § 1,664 $ (74) % 15,905
Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment $ (238) $ 7 % - $ (245)
Furniture and fixtures (153) (9) - (162)
Leasehold improvements (822) (41) - (863)
Office equipment (64) - - (64)
Production equipment (293) (27) - (320)
Rental equipment (10,131) (902) - (11,033)
Warehouse equipment (829) (76) - (905)
$ (12,530) § (1,062) % - $ (13,592)

Net book value $ 1,785  $ 602 $ (74) $ 2,313
During the year ended March 31, 2015, rental equipment with a net book value of $74 was sold for
proceeds of $85 resulting in a gain on disposal of tangible capital assets of $11 included in total
health equipment sales for the year.

9. Designated assets
The Agency has allocated $412 (2015 - $412) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entittements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of the Agency’s employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until
the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

10. Commitments

Rental agreement(s)

The Agency leases space from the Province of Manitoba on a monthly basis for the following
locations: 450 Broadway, Winnipeg, MB; 340 - 9th Street, Brandon, MB; and 25 Tupper Street,
Portage La Prairie, MB. Occupancy charges for the year ended March 31, 2017 are estimated to be
$10 (2016 actual - $10).



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

1.

12.

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year ended March 31, 2016, with Lieutenant-Governor approval by Order in Council, the
Agency transferred $200 (2015 - $200) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains
or losses during the year (2015 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2016 2015
Cash and cash equivalents $ 504 $ 1,045
Accounts receivable 2,768 1,937
Portfolio investments 512 512

$ 3,784 % 3,494

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant
credit risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance of the
accounts receivable are primarily with other government agencies and departments. The balance is
due from a large client base and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or
written off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2016 is $65 (2015 - $65). The
total provision for receivable impairment during the year was $nil (2015 - $nil) and there were no
reversals of previously recognized impairments during the current or prior year.
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

12. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2016

is as follows:

Accounts

receivable Allowance Net
Current $ 2612 § - 3 2,612
30-60 days past the billing date 158 (2) 156
61-90 days past the billing date 26 (26) -
90 days past the billing date (37) -
Balance, end of the year $ $ (65 $ 2,768
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come

due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the

Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange

rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

13.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their
short-term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments
denominated in a foreign currency.

Budget information

The budget information for the year ended March 31, 2016 has been restated to reflect the transfer
payment to the Province of Manitoba as an expense for the year in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule of Warehouse Sales and Service Revenue

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2016 Schedule 1
2016 2015

Warehouse sales:
Medical supplies 6,828 5,994
Stationery 4,558 4,327
Janitorial 2,184 2,189
Health equipment 1,519 1,072
Furniture 902 618
Special projects 79 130

16,070 14,330

Service revenue:
Mail services 6,017 5,541
Home care equipment rentals 3,769 3,583
Manitoba Textbook Bureau 290 290
Freight 935 804
Moving 513 537
Storage 404 408
Vaccine program 546 583
Office equipment - copy centre 8 11
Disposal services 7 36
Other revenue 209 213

12,698 12,006




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule of Operating and Administrative Expenses
(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2016 Schedule 2
2016 2015
Operating expenses:
Amortization 1,220 1,062
Copy centre 5 7
Equipment rentals 167 162
Freight 1,869 1,755
Mail services 4,558 4,322
Moving expenses 371 402
Vehicle 146 130
Warehouse supplies 168 180
8,504 8,020
Administrative expenses:
Computer 228 193
Miscellaneous 22 14
Office 305 291
Professional fees 12 12
Promotion and marketing 54 50
SOAFA fees 2 2
Telephone 74 78
Training 7 11
704 651
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Office
of the Fire Commissioner and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards. In management’s opinion, the financial statements have
been properly prepared with reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating
management’s best judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all other data
available as at May 24, 2016.

Management maintains internal control to properly safeguard the assets of the Office of
the Fire Commissioner and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records
from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions and
that established policies and procedures are followed.

The financial statements of the Office of the Fire Commissioner have been audited by
Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP, independent external auditors. The responsibility
of the auditors is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements
of the Office of the Fire Commissioner are fairly represented, in all material respects, in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Independent
Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit
opinion on the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of
Office of the Fire Commissioner

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
David Schafer Cindy Giesbrecht
Fire Commissioner Director of Support Services
May 24, o4 /:?‘ ).:L} RY¢ R0/b
{ 4
Date Date

508 Norquay Building » 401 York Avenue » Winnipeg, Manitoba « Canada « R3C 0P8
Telephone: 204-945-3322 » Fax: 204-948-2089 « Website: www.firecomm.gov.mb.ca
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and Office of the Fire Commissioner

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Office of the Fire Commissioner, an agency of
the Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016 and
the statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Office of the Fire Commissioner as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

May 24, 2016
Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street + Winnipeg, Canada + R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400


blair
Magnus Transparent


OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,724 $ 16,631
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 608 943
Portfolio investments 787 787
20,119 18,361
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) $ 1,956 $ 2,043
Deferred revenue 549 537
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 984 876
3,489 3,456
Net financial assets 16,630 14,905
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) 7,102 7,212
Prepaid expenses 120 110
Inventories of supplies 334 268
7,556 7,590
Accumulated surplus $ 24,186 $ 22,495

Designated assets (Note 8)
Commitments (Note 9)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue (Schedule 1):
Government grants/transfers:
Province of Manitoba $ 130 § 130 § 201
Federal Government 143 146 78
273 276 279
Fees and other revenue 15,913 17,571 17,260
Investment income 40 58 79
16,226 17,905 17,618
Expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits 10,157 10,354 9,242
Mutual Aid expenses 260 230 207
Transportation (Schedule 2) 790 536 589
Communications (Schedule 3) 360 320 256
Supplies and services (Schedule 4) 1,666 1,997 1,539
Minor capital expenses 80 100 183
Amortization of tangible capital assets 903 731 760
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - - 13
Other operating expenses (Schedule 5) 1,260 1,196 1,177
15,476 15,464 13,966
Net income before transfer of funds to the Province of
Manitoba 750 2,441 3,652
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 10) 750 750 750
Net income for the year - 1,691 2,902
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 20,816 22,495 19,593
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 20816 $ 24186 $ 22,495

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Net income for the year - $ 1,691 $ 2,902
Tangible capital assets:
Acquisitions of tangible capital assets (1,403) (621) (604)
Disposals of tangible capital assets - - 13
Amortization of tangible capital assets 903 731 760
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (500) 110 169
Other non-financial assets:
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses - (10) 8
(Increase) in inventories of supplies - (66) (268)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (76) (260)
Change in net financial assets 152 1,725 2,811
Net financial assets, beginning of year 12,973 14,905 12,094
Net financial assets, end of year 13,125  $ 16,630 $ 14,905

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2015
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating activities:
Net income for the year $ 1,691 $ 2,902
Adjustments for:
Amortization of tangible capital assets 731 760
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 13
2,422 3,675
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable 335 (91)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (87) (901)
Deferred revenue 12 (9)
Employee future benefits 108 104
Prepaid expenses (10) 8
Inventories of supplies (66) (268)
Cash provided by operating activities 2,714 2,518
Capital activities:
Acquisitions of tangible capital assets (621) (604)
Cash (applied to) capital activities (621) (604)
Change in cash and cash equivalents 2,093 1,914
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 16,631 14,717
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 18,724 $ 16,631

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

1.

Nature of organization

Effective April 1, 1996, the Office of the Fire Commissioner (the "Agency") was designated as a
Special Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act, Cap. $185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council.

Effective April 1, 1996, a Transfer Agreement between the Government of Manitoba (Labour) and the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA), a corporation pursuant to The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, transferred all assets in the Fires Prevention Fund valued
at $11,809 to the Financing Authority. A Management Agreement executed between the Financing
Authority and the Government of Manitoba (Labour) assigned responsibility for these assets to the
Office of the Fire Commissioner to manage and account for the related assets and operations on
behalf of the Financing Authority. The Office of the Fire Commissioner does not hold title to the
assets. Effective April 1, 1996, the Financing Authority established a fund referred to as the Fires
Prevention Fund to hold these assets.

Effective April 1, 2011, the operations and related net liabilities valued at $358 of the former
Mechanical and Engineering Branch of the Department of Labour and Immigration were transferred to
the Financing Authority to be managed and accounted for by the Office of the Fire Commissioner.

The Office of the Fire Commissioner is part of the Department of Labour and Immigration and is
ultimately under the policy direction of the Minister of Labour and Immigration. The Agency is bound
by relevant legislation and regulations. The Agency is also bound by administrative policy except
where specific exemptions have been provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Agency's operating charter was updated and an Audit
Committee established to oversee the financial reporting and overall operations of the Agency.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Revenue

Government grants/transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when the
transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (continued)

Fees and other revenue

Insurance levy revenue is recognized in accordance with the underlying legislation. The Fires
Prevention and Emergency Response Act imposes a special assessment on licensed insurers in
Manitoba equal to a set percentage of total property insurance premiums. The levy rate is
currently set at 1.25% (2015 - 1.25%). The Agency collects this levy based on the value of
premiums and assessments relating to property insurance premiums in a calendar year. Levy
revenue with respect to the 2015 calendar year is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2016 with no amounts recognized in the financial statements for January to March of
the current fiscal year due to it not being practicable to determine a reasonable estimate for these
amounts.

Inspection technical services revenue including amusement rides, boiler and pressure vessel, gas
and oil, electrical, and elevator fees including certificates, design registrations, examinations,
inspections, licenses, permits, searches and special acceptances under The Amusements Act,
The Electricians' License Act, The Elevator Act, The Gas and Oil Burner Act, The Power
Engineers Act and The Steam and Pressure Plants Act are recognized on the accrual basis.

Codes and standards revenue including building, mobile home and plumbing code inspections
and permits under The Buildings and Mobile Homes Act is recognized on the accrual basis.

Fire inspections, investigations and reports under The Fires Prevention and Emergency Response
Act are recognized on the accrual basis.

Tuition fees, emergency services and other conferences revenue are recognized on the accrual
basis.

Amounts received in advance for tuition fees, conferences and inspection technical services are
deferred and recognized as revenue during the period the revenue relates to.

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on the accrual basis.

Expenses

Expenses

Expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on the accrual basis when the related
goods or services are received.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Agency. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Building 5% declining balance
Practical training site 10% declining balance
Equipment 20% declining balance
Fire engines 30% declining balance
Other vehicles 30% declining balance
Air compressors 20% declining balance
Furniture 20% declining balance
Computer equipment and software 30% declining balance
Leasehold improvements 10% declining balance

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the year the
supplies are consumed.
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f)

(9)

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

4. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2016 2015
Financial Institutions Branch of the Department of Finance -
Fire Prevention Levy $ 102 $ 227
National Search and Rescue Secretariat - New Search and
Rescue Initiative 139 54
Trade accounts receivable 601 1,043
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 12) (234) (381)
$ 608 $ 943

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2016 2015
Trade payables and accruals $ 388 $ 913
Vacation and overtime entitlements 866 811
Accrued salaries and benefits 638 258
City of Winnipeg - professional services 53 53
Provincial sales and other taxes payable 11 8

$ 1,956 $ 2,043
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

6. Employee future benefits

2016 2015
Severance benefits $ 835 $ 738
Sick pay benefits 149 138
$ 984 $ 876

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2011, the
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of its
employees. The amount paid for 2016 was $661 (2015 - $515). Under this agreement, the Agency
has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from expected and/or because of changes in the
actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 is $835
(2015 - $738), with the net actuarial losses of $220 (2015 - $220) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%

3.75%
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

6. Employee future benefits (continued)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2016 2015
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 887 $ 709
Actuarial losses - 108
Current period service costs 57 53
Interest on accrued severance benefits 53 49
Severance benefits paid (28) (32)
Accrued benefit liability, end of year 969 887
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (134) (149)
Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 83 § 738

The total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2016 2015
Current period service costs $ 57 % 53
Interest on accrued severance benefits 53 49
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 15 15
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 125  §$ 117

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00% (2015 - 5.00%) annual
return and a 3.00% (2015 - 3.00%) annual salary increase. The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as
at March 31, 2016 based on the valuation model is $149 (2015 - $138). The increase in the sick leave
benefit liability of $11 (2015 - $19) represents the total sick leave benefit expense for the year.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

7. Tangible capital assets

2016
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Buildings $ 7845  § 28 $ 7,873
Practical training site 2,726 122 2,848
Equipment 3,640 219 3,859
Fire engines 1,707 120 1,827
Other vehicles 1,450 - 1,450
Air compressors 1,151 118 1,269
Furniture 331 14 345
Computer equipment and software 588 - 588
Leasehold improvements 74 - 74

$ 19512  $ 621 $ 20,133
Accumulated amortization
Buildings $ (3,271) $ (229) $ (3,500)
Practical training site (1,816) (98) (1,914)
Equipment (2,985) (144) (3,129)
Fire engines (1,528) (57) (1,585)
Other vehicles (1,243) (62) (1,305)
Air compressors (781) (75) (856)
Furniture (191) (47) (238)
Computer equipment and software (477) (13) (490)
Leasehold improvements (8) (6) (14)

$ (12,300) (731) (13,031)
Net book value $ 7212 % (110) $ 7,102




OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

7. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2015
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Buildings $ 7819 § 26 3 - 98 7,845
Practical training site 2,630 96 - 2,726
Equipment 3,506 134 - 3,640
Fire engines 1,707 - - 1,707
Other vehicles 1,429 21 - 1,450
Air compressors 992 159 - 1,151
Furniture 237 94 - 331
Computer equipment and software 629 - (41) 588
Leasehold improvements - 74 - 74

$ 18,949  $ 604 % 41 $ 19,512
Accumulated amortization
Buildings (3,040) (231) - (3,271)
Practical training site (1,722) (94) - (1,816)
Equipment (2,850) (135) - (2,985)
Fire engines (1,470) (58) - (1,528)
Other vehicles (1,175) (68) - (1,243)
Air compressors (699) (82) - (781)
Furniture (139) (52) - (191)
Computer equipment and software (473) (32) 28 (477)
Leasehold improvements - (8) - (8)

$ (11,568) (760) % 28§  (12,300)
Net book value $ 7381 § (156) $ (13) $ 7,212

8. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $787 (2015 - $787) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and for severance pay benefits for certain of its employees.
As at March 31, 2016, $559 (2015 - $559) is designated for the vacation entitements and severance
pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of its employees and $228 (2015 - $228) is
designated for the severance pay benefits accumulated to April 1, 2011 for employees transferred
from the former Mechanical and Engineering Branch, now Inspection Technical Services. These
amounts are held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related
liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

9.

10.

1.

12

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement with the City of Brandon for the land on which the
practical training facility has been constructed. The term of the lease expires May 31, 2017. Minimum
annual rent is $12 due in equal monthly installments, plus all operating costs with respect to the
subject land.

Computer and office equipment operating leases exist for 138 machines. The longest lease term
expires on December 31, 2017.

The Agency has entered into leases on a fleet of 40 vehicles.

These three categories of leases give rise to lease commitments as follows:

2017 $ 219
2018 167
2019 118
2020 74
2021 50

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $750 (2015 - $750) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.

Professional services - Labour and Immigration

The Agency has a professional services agreement with the Department of Labour and Immigration
for the provision of legislation and policy services to the Agency for total fees of $75 for the year ended
March 31, 2016. In the prior year, a similar agreement was in place also for legislation and policy
services. The amount paid pursuant to this professional services agreement for the year ended
March 31, 2016 was $75 (2015 - $75). As at year end, all amounts owing pursuant to this agreement
have been paid.

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2015 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.
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12. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2016 2015
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,724  $ 16,631
Accounts receivable 608 943
Portfolio investments 787 787

$ 20119 $ 18,361

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is exposed to credit risk on its trade accounts receivable. The
Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit
losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's estimates and assumptions
regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors
are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2016 is $234 (2015 - $381). The
change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year is as follows:

2016 2015
Balance, beginning of the year $ 381 $ 395
Reversals of previously recognized impairments (147) (14)
Balance, end of the year $ 234  $ 381

Bad debt expense (recovery) for the year also includes $21 (2015 - $nil) of adjustments to accounts
receivable for a total net (recovery) during the year of ($126) (2015 - ($14)).

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2016

is as follows:

Accounts

receivable Allowance Net
Current $ 481 $ - 9 481
30-60 days past the billing date 106 - 106
61-90 days past the billing date 21 - 21
Over 90 days past the billing date 234 (234) -
Balance, end of the year $ 842 $ (234) % 608
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.
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12. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their short-
term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.

13. Comparative information

Certain of the amounts for the year ended March 31, 2015 have been reclassified to conform to the
financial statement presentation adopted in the current year.
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Schedule 1 - Revenue
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Government grants/transfers:
Province of Manitoba:
Manitoba Local Government - Mutual Aid $ 130 $ 130 $ 130
Other - Criminal Property Forfeiture - - 71
Total Province of Manitoba 130 130 201
Federal Government:
National Search and Rescue Secretariat - New
Search and Rescue Initiative 143 146 78
Total Federal Government 143 146 78
Fees and other revenue:
Insurance Levy 7,548 8,364 7,868
Inspection technical services 5,100 5,195 5,433
Codes and standards 1,900 2,755 2,797
Tuition fees 1,100 971 999
Fire inspections, investigations and reports 140 211 124
Emergency services and other conferences 75 3 18
Other revenue 50 72 21
Total fees and other revenue 15,913 17,571 17,260
Investment income 40 58 79
$ 16,226 $ 17,905 $ 17,618
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Schedule 2 - Transportation Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Transportation expenses:

Vehicle leases $ 550 % 385 % 456
Travel 210 126 115
Fuel - owned vehicles 25 14 13
Emergency response - 10 3
Boards and committees 5 1 2
$ 790 $ 536 $ 589
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Schedule 3 - Communications Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Communications expenses:

Communications $ 170  $ 172 $ 161
Postage and courier 60 81 55
Marketing 65 16 13
Public education material 65 51 27
$ 360 % 320 % 256
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Schedule 4 - Supplies and Services Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Supplies and services expenses:
Supplies $ 235 § 19 $ 219
Repairs and maintenance 200 330 206
Rent 364 394 338
Professional services - Labour and

Immigration (Note 11) 75 75 75
Professional fees - contracted services 245 472 367
Professional fees - legal and audit 75 84 53
Mutual Aid - air compressor maintenance 60 138 83
Fuel - training supplies 30 15 18
Utilities 85 92 88
Other 32 20 10
Emergency response 265 181 82
$ 1,666 3 1997 § 1,539
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Schedule 5 - Other Operating Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
Other operating expenses:
Desktop management $ 500 $ 521§ 452
Travel 310 316 280
Bad debt expenses (recovery) 20 (126) (14)
Property taxes 180 165 161
Insurance 134 141 129
Clothing 40 59 70
Publications 20 41 38
Professional development 20 42 37
Boards and committees 6 1 3
Seminar and conference registration 8 8 2
Memberships and subscriptions 9 9 7
Mutual Aid - meetings 5 2 2
Other 8 17 10
$ 1,260 $ 1,196  $ 1,177




Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Financial Statements
March 31, 2016

MNP



Management's Responsibility

Pineland Forest Nursery's (the Nursery) management is responsible for preparing the financial statements and other
financial information in the Annual Report. This responsibility includes maintaining the integrity and objectivity of
financial data and the presentation of the Nursery’s financial position, results of operations, change in net debt, and
cash flows, in compliance with legislation, and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. In
management’s opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared, within reasonable limits of materiality,
incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available through
May 17, 2016.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Nursery's assets. These controls also provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect
all transactions in all material respects, and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The Nursery's financial statements have been audited by MNP LLP, independent external auditors. The auditors’
responsibility is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of the Nursery are presented
fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Auditors’ Report
outlines the scope of their audit examination and provides their audit opinion.

On behalf of the Nursery's management,

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed

Trevor Stanley, Donna Shandroski,
General Manager / Chief Operating Officer Acting Manager of Administration

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 17, 2016

MNP



Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of Pineland Forest Nursery:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Pineland Forest Nursery, which comprise the statement of financial position
as at March 31, 2016 and the statements of operations and accumulated deficit, change in net debt and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pineland Forest Nursery as at

March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba MA/P LLP

May 17, 2016 Chartered Professional Accountants

2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2016

2016 2015
(in thousands) (in thousands)

Financial assets

Portfolio investments 187 187
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 1,344 931
1,531 1,118
Liabilities
Working capital advances (Note 5) 3,929 3,465
Accounts payable and accruals 289 239
Unearned revenue 936 573
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 357 349
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 7) 1,027 1,172
6,538 5,798
Net Debt (5,007) (4,680)
Non-financial assets
Inventories held for use 312 238
Prepaid expenses 9 23
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 1,511 1,709
1,832 1,970
Accumulated Deficit (3,175) (2,710)

Designated assets (Note 9)

Approved by:

Original Document Signed

General Manager / Chief Operating Officer

Original Document Signed

Acting Manager of Administration

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016
Budget
(in thousands)

2016
Actual
(in thousands)

2015
Actual
(in thousands)

Revenues - Private Sector

Overwinter 903 1,029 1,038
Current 298 204 164
Seed services 50 76 54
Other 5 10 17
1,256 1,319 1,273

Revenues - Province of Manitoba
Overwinter 710 505 537
Current 1 41 109
Seed services 5 36 37
Other 73 182 103
789 764 786
Total revenues 2,045 2,083 2,059
Operating Expenses (Schedule 1) 700 775 857

General administrative expenses
Amortization 267 249 287
Interest - operating and capital loan 190 113 121
Salaries, wages and benefits 1,378 1,411 1,388
1,835 1,773 1,796
Total expenses 2,535 2,548 2,653
Net loss (490) (465) (594)
Accumulated deficit, beginning of year (2,710) (2,710) (2,116)
Accumulated deficit, end of year (3,200) (3,175) (2,710)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Debt
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Net loss (490) (465) (594)
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (38) (51) (31)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 267 249 287
229 198 256
Other non-financial assets
Increase in inventories held for use - (74) (104)
Decrease in prepaid expense - 14 -
- (60) (104)
Increase in net debt (261) (327) (442)
Net debt, beginning of year (4,680) (4,680) (4,238)
Net debt, end of year (4,941) (5,007) (4,680)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016
Actual
(in thousands)

2015
Actual

(fin thousands)

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating
Net loss (465) (594)
Amortization of tangible assets 249 287
(216) (307)
Change in:
Accounts receivable (413) (293)
Accounts payable and accruals 50 (29)
Unearned revenue 363 (66)
Employee future benefits 8 11
Inventories (74) (104)
Prepaid expenses 14 -
(268) (788)
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (51) (31)
Financing
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (145) (145)
Decrease in cash resources (464) (964)
Working capital advances, beginning of year (3,465) (2,501)
Working capital advances, end of year (3,929) (3,465)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

Nature of Organization

In 1953, Pineland Provincial Forestry Nursery was established to meet all the forest nursery stock
requirements of the Province at one location. Prior to 1953 there were several small nurseries located
throughout the Province. Effective April 1, 1995, Pineland Forest Nursery, (the "Nursery”) was
designated as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act (C.C.S.M. ¢.8185) and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

A management agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Conservation and
Water Stewardship assigns responsibility to the Nursery to manage and account for the agency related
assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority. Pineland Forest Nursery continues to be
part of Manitoba Conservation and Water Stewardship under the general direction of the Assistant
Deputy Minister of Conservation and Water Stewardship Division and ultimately the policy direction of
the Deputy Minister and the Minister. Pineland Forest Nursery remains bound by relevant legislation
and regulations. It is also bound by administrative policy, except where specific exemptions have been
provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements are the representations of management, prepared in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards and include the following significant accounting policies.

Basis of presentation

Sources of revenue and expenses are recorded on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis
of accounting recognizes revenue as they become available and measurable; expenses are recognized
as they are incurred and measurable as a result of the receipt of goods or services and the creation of a
legal obligation to pay.

Asset classification

Assets are classified as either financial or non-financial. Financial assets are assets that could be used
to discharge existing liabilities or finance future operations. Non-financial assets are acquired,
constructed or developed assets that do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities
but are employed to deliver government services, may be consumed in normal operations and are not
for resale in the normal course of operations.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term investments with maturities of
three months or less. Cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current purposes is included in
restricted cash.

Financial Assets

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and are
recognized at fair value.

Liabilities
Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the

fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of
seftlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued from previous page)

Net debt

The Nursery's financial statements are presented so as to highlight net debt as the measurement of
financial position. The net debt of the Nursery is determined by its liabilities less its financial assets. Net
debt combined with non-financial assets comprises a second indicator of financial position,
accumulated deficit.

Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Nursery. These
assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Inventories held for use are classified as non-financial assets.

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in future
periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or services are
consumed.

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to
amortize the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives.

Rate
Buildings 10-20%
Equipment 20-30%
Amortization on current year additions is pro-rated on the length of time in use in the current
year.
Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of tangible capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and
amortized as described in the applicable accounting policies.

The Nursery performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, may not be
recoverable. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if the carrying amount
exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal. Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Fair value is
measured using prices for similar items. Any impairment is included in operations for the year.

Revenue
Revenue is recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Any excess of revenue recorded on a
percentage of completion basis over amounts billed is recorded as unbilled revenue and included in

accounts receivable. Any excess of amounts billed over revenue recorded on a percentage of
completion basis is recorded as unearned revenue.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued from previous page)
Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accounts
receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful
accounts is provided where considered necessary. Unbilled accounts receivable and uneamned revenue
are based on estimated percentage of completion. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives
of tangible capital assets. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as
adjustments become necessary they are reported in earnings in the periods in which they become
known.

Donated materials and services

Donated materials and services are recorded in the accounts at their fair value. Fair value is based on
the amounts that would be paid if these materials and services were purchased in the normal course of
business. No amount has been included in cases when fair value could not be reasonably estimated.

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management
Measurement
Amortized cost

The Nursery has classified the following financial assets in the amortized cost category: accounts
receivable. These assets are initially recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the
instrument's initial cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell
these items are recorded on the trade date.

Accounts receivable are subsequently measured at their amortized cost, using the effective interest
method. Under this method, estimated future cash receipts are exactly discounted over the asset's
expected life, or other appropriate period, to its net carrying value. Amortized cost is the amount at
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition less principal payments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, and less any reduction for impairment or uncollectability.

The Nursery has classified the following liabilities in the amortized cost category: working capital
advances, accounts payable and accruals and borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. These
liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the instrument's initial
cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell these items are
recorded on the trade date.

Working capital advances, accounts payable and accruals and borrowings from the Province of
Manitoba are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Under this
method, estimated future cash payments are exactly discounted over the liability's expected life, or other
appropriate period, to their net carrying value. Amortized cost is the amount at which the financial
liability is measured at initial recognition less principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (Continued from previous page)
Fair value

The Nursery has classified portfolio investments in the fair value category. These assets are initially
recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the instrument's initial cost in a transaction
between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on the trade date.

Investments are subsequently measured at their fair value. Investments in equity instruments that do not
have quoted market prices in an active market are measured at fair value using alternative means of
estimation. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, except for impairment losses and
foreign exchange translation adjustments, are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and
losses as a remeasurement gain or loss, until the financial asset is sold or otherwise derecognized.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the statement of
remeasurement gains or losses is transferred to the consolidated statement of operations.

Financial risk management - overview

The Nursery has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Nursery to credit risk

consist principally of portfolio investments and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Nursery to credit risk is:

2016 2015
Portfolio investments 187 187
Accounts receivable 1,344 931
1,531 1,118

Portfolio investments: The Nursery is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are held by
the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: Accounts receivable from two customers represents 80% (2015 - 76%) of total
accounts receivable as at March 31, 2016. The Nursery believes that there is minimal risk associated
with the collection of these amounts. The Nursery manages this credit risk through close monitoring of
overdue accounts. The Nursery establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its
estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical
payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are
allowed for or written off.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (Continued from previous page)

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:

2016 2015
Balance, beginning of the year 43 43
Provision for (recovery of) receivable impairment - -
Amounts written off - -
Balance, end of the year 43 43

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Nursery will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Nursery manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates,
will affect the Nursery's income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to portfolio investments
and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are reinvested
at fixed rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Nursery manages its interest rate risk on borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate terms
for its borrowings.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Nursery is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.

Accounts receivable

2016 2015

Trade receivable:
Province of Manitoba 666 310
Other 406 343
1,072 653
Allowance for doubtful accounts (43) (43)
1,029 610
Unbilled revenue 306 312
Goods and Services Tax receivable 9 9
1,344 931
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

Working capital advances

The Financing Authority has provided the Nursery with an authorized line of working capital of $5,000
(2015 - $5,000) of which $3,929 was advanced at March 31, 2016 (2015 - $3,465). The indebtedness
bears interest at prime less 1% (2015 — prime less 1%).

Employee future benefits

2016 2015

Severance benefits 334 328
Sick pay benefits 23 21
357 349

Pension benefits

Employees of the Nursery are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The Civil
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB).
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Nursery
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the
Nursery was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees' current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2016 was $81 (2015 - $79).

Under this agreement, the Nursery has no further pension liability.
Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Nursery began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actual gains or losses are amortized over the expected average
remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Nursery's actuarially determined net
liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2016 was $334 (2015 - $328), with an actuarial loss
being amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2016 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return

inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

Employee future benefits (Continued from previous page)

Sick pay benefits

The Financing Authority provides sick pay benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick pay entitlement earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick pay
usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75%

annual salary increase.

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

2016 2015
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 556 632
$6,317, plus interest at 5.125%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly instaliments of 240 273
$2,727, plus interest at 4.875%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 157 178
$1,786, plus interest at 4.875%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 74 89
$1,250, plus interest at 3.875%, due January 2021.

1,027 1,172

Principal repayments in each of the next five years are estimated as follows:

2017 145
2018 145
2019 145
2020 145
2021 145
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

8. Tangible capital assets

2016
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Buildings 6,225 29 - 6,254
Equipment 2,112 22 - 2,134
Total cost 8,337 51 - 8,388
Accumulated Amortization
Buildings 4,669 208 - 4,877
Equipment 1,959 41 - 2,000
Total accumulated
amortization 6,628 249 - 6,877
Net
Buildings 1,556 (179) - 1,377
Equipment 153 (19) - 134
Total 1,709 (198) - 1,511
2015
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Buildings 6,217 8 - 6,225
Equipment 2,088 23 - 2,112
Total cost 8,305 31 - 8,337
Accumulated Amortization
Buildings 4,425 243 - 4,669
Equipment 1,915 44 - 1,959
Total accumulated
amortization 6,340 287 - 6,628
Net
Buildings 1,792 (235) - 1,556
Equipment 173 21 - 153
Total 1,965 (256) - 1,709
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2016
(In thousands)

10.

Designated assets

The Nursery has allocated $187 (2015 - $187) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash
received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by employees of the
Nursery prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is
required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

Economic dependence

The Nursery is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba, because it derives a significant
portion of its revenue from the Province and all of its financing requirements through the Financing
Authority.

The Nursery is also economically dependent on two of its main private sector clients as a significant
portion of its private sector revenue is derived from these two clients.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operating Expenses
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget Actual Actual
(In thousands) (In thousands) (In thousands)

Operating expenses
Departmental senices and professional fees 25 23 37
Freight 20 27 26
Marketing 5 11 5
Natural gas and hydro, Biomass fuel 200 206 273
Office 40 33 36
Property taxes and insurance 60 59 60
Repairs and maintenance 150 178 197
Supplies 190 226 213
Travel 10 12 10
700 775 857
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Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Non-consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

March 31, March 31,
2016 2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 579,831 $ 1,057,310
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 144,211 553,594
Accumulated Surplus $ 435,620 $ 503,716

Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Non-consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the Year Ended March 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

2016 2015

Revenue

Annual levies 13,326 11,391

Investment income - 51,954

Total revenue 13,326 63,345
Expense

Supplies and services 17,799 5,559

Debt servicing - 84,403

Other operating 63,623 61,729

Total expense 81,422 151,691
Net loss before the transfer of funds

to the Province of Manitoba (68,096) (88,346)
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba - 10,000,000
Net loss (68,096) (10,088,346)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 503,716 10,592,062
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 435,620 $ 503,716
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. Publi
¢ Guardian and
/{\ Trustee of Manitoba

1565 Carlton St, Suite 500
Winnipeg MB  R3C 5R9
CANADA

MANAGEMENT REPORT

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. In Management's
opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality, incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and
all other data available up to August 4, 2016. The financial information presented elsewhere in
the Annual Report is consistent with that in the financial statements.

Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
information is reliable and accurate and that the assets of The Public Guardian and Trustee of
Manitoba — An Agency of the Province of Manitoba are properly safeguarded.

The responsibility of the Auditor General is to express an independent, professional opinion on
whether the financial statements are fairly stated in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards. The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and
provides the audit opinion.

The Public Guardian and Trustee have reviewed and approved these financial statements and
the Annual Report in advance of its release and have approved its content and authorized its
release.

Original Document Signed

Douglas R. Brown
Public Guardian and Trustee



OFFICE OF THE

AUDITOR GENERAL
MANITOBA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba,
To the Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba, and
To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the statements of operations
and accumulated surplus, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The Public Guardian and Trustee’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Public Guardian and Trustee is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control
as the Public Guardian and Trustee determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Public Guardian and Trustee, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
The Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba as at March 31, 2016, and the results of its operations,
changes in net financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards.
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Office of the Auditor General
August 4, 2016
Winnipeg, Manitoba

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 office: (204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169
www.oag.mb.ca



PUBLIC GUARDIAN AND TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA

An Agency of the Province of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2016

(In Thousands)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5)
Portfolio investments (Note 10)
Accounts receivable (Note 6)

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7)
Employee future benefits (Note 8)

Net financial assets
Non-financial assets

Prepaid expenses
Tangible capital assets (Note 9)

Accumulated surplus

March 31, March 31,
2016 2015
$5,257 $ 4998

515 515
1,002 1.047
6.774 6,560
1,073 827